# The role of intestinal dendritic cells and the microbiota during oral *Salmonella* infection

María Fernández

Department of Microbiology and Immunology Institute of Biomedicine Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg



## UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Gothenburg 2015

Cover illustration: A dendritic cell and two bacteria by María Fernández

© María Fernández 2015 maria.fernandez@gu.se

ISBN 978-91-628-9569-3 ISBN 978-91-628-9570-9 (e-pub) http://hdl.handle.net/2077/40450

Printed by Ineko AB, Kållered, Sweden 2015

A mis papás

# CONTENTS

Abstract	1
SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA	2
LIST OF PAPERS	3
1 INTRODUCTION	5
1.1 Dendritic cells	6
Origin and classification	6
DC as initiators of adaptive immunity	9
Intestinal DC	. 13
1.2 Intestinal Microbiota	. 15
Composition	. 15
Features	. 16
Microbiota and infection with intestinal pathogens	19
1.3 Salmonella infection	21
Salmonella's invasion mechanisms	22
Tissue colonization by Salmonella	23
Innate immunity to Salmonella	25
The role of cytokines in immunity to Salmonella	28
Adaptive immunity to Salmonella	30
2 AIMS	. 33
3 Key methodology	. 34
3.1 Mice	. 34
3.2 Salmonella strains and infections	35
3.3 Cell suspensions	35
3.4 Flow cytometry	36
3.5 Cytokine analysis	. 36
3.6 Gene expression	. 36
4 Results and discussion	. 38
4.1 Role of DC in Salmonella infection	38
4.2 Role of the intestinal microbiota in Salmonella infection	48
5 CONCLUSIONS	. 53
Acknowledgements	. 54
REFERENCES	. 57

## ABSTRACT

The intestinal pathogen *Salmonella* causes millions of infections per year worldwide. The immune response to these bacteria involves interactions between several cell types via specific molecules and is under the influence of the intestinal microbiota.

Dendritic cells (DC) initiate immune responses including those to *Salmonella*. Toll-like receptors and CD40 can act synergistically on DC activation but their cooperativity during bacterial infection had not been addressed. *Salmonella*-infected mice lacking MyD88, CD40 or both (DKO) showed that synergistic effects of CD40 and MyD88 do not influence host survival, bacterial burden in intestinal tissues or serum levels of IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-10 during infection. However, cooperativity between CD40 and MyD88 influenced IL-10 production in DC-T cell co-cultures using killed *Salmonella* as the antigen. Moreover, cooperative effects of CD40 and MyD88 on T cell effector functions such as proliferation and IFN- $\gamma$  production were influenced by the complexity of the antigen.

Although some studies had addressed the role of DC subsets in infection, the influence of the CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC in *Salmonella* infection was unknown. Studies using mice with a reduced CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC population in mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN) and small intestine lamina propria showed no alterations in *Salmonella* colonization of intestinal tissues or spleen. Moreover, mechanisms important in host survival to *Salmonella* infection such as IFN- $\gamma$  production analyzed by flow cytometry and antibody production analyzed by ELISA were not altered. This suggests that the absence of CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC has a limited effect on the host response to *Salmonella* infection.

Interactions between *Salmonella* and the microbiota at an early phase of colonization have been reported, but the role of the microbiota later during infection was poorly understood. *Salmonella*-infected germ-free (GF) and antibiotic treated mice (ABX) revealed a higher bacterial burden in the MLN, which seems to be due to increased intestinal bacterial translocation to MLN caused by the lack of the microbiota. Furthermore, higher IFN- $\gamma$  in MLN of GF and ABX relative to controls was detected by flow cytometry despite similar IL-12 levels six days post infection. While the higher IFN- $\gamma$  in MLN of ABX mice correlated to the severity of infection, a lack of immune signals provided by the microbiota from birth may influence IFN- $\gamma$ production in GF mice.

These studies provide further information about the role of DC and the microbiota during *Salmonella* infection, which could be used for the generation of vaccines or treatments for this infection.

Keywords: Salmonella, dendritic cells, NF-KB, MyD88, CD40, CD103, IRF4, microbiota

## SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

Salmonella orsakar varje år miljontals infektioner. Immunsvaret mot denna bakterie involverar interaktioner mellan flera olika typer av immunceller däribland dendritiska celler och T-celler. Även de bakterier som normalt finns i våra tarmar – tarmfloran – har visats påverka hur vi kan bli infekterade av patogener så som Salmonella.

Dendritiska celler (DC) är viktiga för att starta ett effektivt immunsvar, inklusive det mot *Salmonella*. Det har visats att Toll-like receptors (TLR) kan verka synergistiskt med CD40 för att aktivera DC, men dessa molekylers roll vid en bakteriell infektion hade ännu inte belysts. Genom att använda möss som saknar MyD88, CD40 eller båda (DKO) visar vi att dessa synergistiska effekter inte påverkar mössens överlevnad, antalet *Salmonella* som återfinns i tarmen eller serumnivåer av IFN-γ och IL-10 efter infektion. Däremot påverkade CD40 och MyD88 DC förmåga att aktivera T celler eftersom DC från DKO inducerade mindre delning av Tceller än MyD88-/- DC. Genom att använda olika antigen (proteiner, peptider eller bakterier) i samodlingarna kunde vi påvisa att delningen av Tceller och produktion av IL-10 påverkas av antigenets komplexitet.

Den roll olika subgrupper av DC spelar vid infektioner har tidigare studerats men betydelsen av CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC vid en *Salmonella*infektion har dock hittills inte studerats utförligt. Vi visar att i möss med en minskad mängd av denna DC subgrupp i tarmdränerande lymfnoder (MLN) inte får fler *Salmonella* i tarmvävnad eller mjälte efter infektion. Inte heller mekanismer viktiga för att överleva en *Salmonella*-infektion såsom IFN-γ och antikroppsproduktion är försvagade. Detta tyder på att CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC spelar en mindre roll vid en *Salmonella* infektion.

Tidigare studier belyser betydelsen av tarmfloran i ett tidigt skede av en *Salmonella* infektion, men dess roll under den senare delen av infektionen är till stor del okänd. Våra försök med möss, som från födseln saknar tarmflora (GF) och antibiotika behandlade möss (ABX) visar ett högre antal *Salmonella* bakterier i deras MLN jämfört med kontroll möss med normal tarmflora från födseln. Detta tycks bero på ökad bakteriell translokation från tarm till MLN i djur som saknar tarmflora. Vidare observerades en högre IL-12-oberoende IFN- $\gamma$  produktion i MLN av GF och ABX. Även om det i ABX möss tycks vara en påföljd av infektionens svårighetsgrad, verkar ytterligare effekter av bristen på immunsignaler som annars ges av tarmfloran från födseln, påverka IFN- $\gamma$  produktion i GF-möss.

Dessa studier ger ytterligare information om den roll som DC och tarmfloran har vid en *Salmonella* infektion, som skulle kunna användas för att skapa nya vaccin mot eller behandlingar av denna infektion.

# LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following studies, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Wenzel UA, <u>Fernández-Santoscoy</u> M, Tam MA, Tegtmeyer P and Wick MJ.
   Synergy between CD40 and MyD88 does not influence host survival to *Salmonella* infection. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:460.
- II. <u>Fernández-Santoscoy M</u>, Wenzel UA, Yrlid U, Cardell S, Bäckhed F and Wick MJ.
   The normal gut microbiota reduces colonization of the mesenteric lymph nodes and IL-12-independent IFN-γ production during *Salmonella* infection. *Submitted*
- III. <u>Fernández-Santoscoy M</u>, Wenzel UA, Yrlid U, Persson EK, Agace WW and Wick MJ.
  The influence of intestinal CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells on oral *Salmonella* infection. *Manuscript*

Reprints were made according to the journal requirements

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

NK	Natural killer
DC	Dendritic cells
APC	Antigen-presenting cells
MDP	Monocyte/DC precursor
CDP	Common DC precursor
Flt3L	Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand
pDC	Plasmacytoid DC
pre-DC	DC progenitors
cDC	Conventional DC
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
PRR	Pathogen recognition receptors
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular patterns
TLR	Toll-like receptors
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation factor 88
CCR7	Chemokine receptor 7
IFN	Interferon
LN	Lymph nodes
NF-κB	Nuclear factor KB
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
LP	Lamina propria
PP	Peyer's patches
MLN	Mesenteric lymph nodes
siLP	Small intestine lamina propria
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor $\beta$
CX <sub>3</sub> CR1	CX3 chemokine receptor 1
Ig	Immunoglobulin
Tregs	Regulatory T cells
GF	Germ-free
IEL	Intraepithelial lymphocytes
S. typhimurium	Salmonella enterica Serovar typhimurium
TTSS	Type 3 secretion system
SPI	Salmonella pathogenicity island
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
SCV	Salmonella-containing vacuole
OVA	Ovalbumin
WT	Wildtype
CONV-R	Conventionally raised mice
CFU	Colony forming units
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay
RT-PCR	Real time polymerase chain reaction
DKO	Double knockout

# **1 INTRODUCTION**

The ability to survive infection with a pathogen relies on both physical barriers to keep microbial invaders from penetrating into the body and on the function of a number of cells that fight the pathogen once it enters the body. The term *immunity* refers to the resistance to infection while the hosts' defense mechanisms against infection are called immune responses. There are two types of immune responses: innate and adaptive. While innate immunity provides a rapid non-specific response to invading microorganisms, adaptive immunity is antigen-specific and develops memory, which provides long-lasting protection against a second encounter with the same antigen.

The cells of the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system have specific yet overlapping roles to ensure host survival to infection. Macrophages and neutrophils are phagocytic cells whose main function is to take up and kill microorganisms. Natural killer (NK) cells contribute to innate immune responses with the production of cytokines, which are soluble proteins that regulate the function of other cells. Dendritic cells (DC) share a common precursor with macrophages and are also phagocytic, although their main function is to initiate adaptive immune responses through the activation of naïve T cells. In contrast to these cell types, which belong to the innate immune system, T and B cells are part of the adaptive immune system. T cells have either effector functions that facilitate clearance of pathogens or tolerogenic responses against the hosts' own proteins. And finally, B cells play an important role in the defense against pathogens through the production of antibodies.

Much progress has been made in the understanding of the general functions of DC and the microbiota in immunological processes. However, their specific role in the context of an infection with a bacterial pathogen is not completely understood. Therefore, the main purpose of this thesis was to investigate the impact of DC and the intestinal microbiota on *Salmonella* infection.

## 1.1 Dendritic cells

DC are a member of the family of hematopoietic cells with the ability to present antigens to T cells, so-called antigen-presenting cells (APC). Despite that DC are not necessarily the most abundant APC in tissues, their special niche comes from their unique ability to prime naïve T cells and thus initiate adaptive immune responses. Importantly, DC are the APC with the capacity to migrate from peripheral tissues to draining lymph nodes, which is a critical feature of their ability to prime naïve T cells. They also have an important role as mediators of tolerance, thus helping avoid undesired reactions to i.e. self antigens and food proteins (1-3). Due to their unique ability to prime naïve T cells, DC constitute the link between innate and adaptive immunity (4,5). DC were first described by Steinman and Cohn in the early seventies (6) for which Steinman was awarded the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine in 2011.

## Origin and classification

Monocytes/macrophages and DC originate from a common bone marrow progenitor called monocyte/DC precursor (MDP). MDP give rise to monocytes and common DC precursors (CDP). CDP, through the growth factor Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (Flt3L), give rise to plasmacytoid DC (pDC) and circulating DC progenitors (pre-DC) that finally differentiate into conventional DC (cDC) (Figure 1)(7,8).

DC are usually identified in the different organs by their coexpression of CD11c and major histocompatibility complex II (MHC-II). However, macrophages present in peripheral tissues also express these proteins (9,10), making it more challenging to separate macrophages and DC by the sole use of these surface proteins. This problem is overcome by the identification of macrophages through other molecules that DC do not express. For instance, it has been shown that the expression of CD64 distinguishes macrophages from DC (11). In addition, bona fide

DC lack expression of the macrophage marker F4/80 (12). Moreover, macrophages express  $CX_3CR1$  at higher levels than DC (13,14).

It has been suggested that classification of DC according to their ontogeny is an accurate criteria conserved across tissues and species (15), therefore they are usually classified into pDC and cDC. pDC are best characterized for their role in viral infections (16) and were not studied in this thesis.

#### **Conventional DC**

These cells are also known as classical DC because they are experts in performing the classical DC function, which is the initiation of adaptive immune responses against foreign antigens or the induction of tolerance to self-antigens. cDC achieve this goal through their advanced antigen presentation machinery and their remarkable capacity to migrate to the lymph nodes and activate T cell responses (17). cDC classification into subsets is generally based in the expression of CD8 $\alpha$  or CD103 and CD11b (Figure 1)(18,19).

#### $CD8\alpha^{+}$ and $CD103^{+}$ cDC

CD8 expression by DC was first detected in the spleen and thymus (20). However, the presence of  $CD8\alpha^+$  cDC is not restricted to lymphoid organs. In fact, there is a population of CD103 (integrin  $\alpha_E\beta_7$ )-expressing cDC in peripheral tissues that do not express CD11b and share similar functions and developmental requirements with the CD8 $\alpha^+$  cDC (21). The development of both CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> and CD8 $\alpha^+$  DC depends on the transcription factors BATF3, Id2, IRF8 and NFIL3 (22-25). A key feature of these populations of cDC is their ability to efficiently cross-present antigens to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (26). In addition, it has been shown that these DC preferably induce a Th1 response that depends on the production of IL-12 (27,28). It has recently been suggested that XCR1 can be used as a universal marker for cross-presenting murine DC regardless of their expression of CD8 and CD103 (29).



Figure 1. DC ontogeny. The names given downstream of cDC are transcription factors described to be involved in the development of the different lineages.

#### CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC

This population is less characterized compared to  $CD8\alpha^+$  cDC and it is also more heterogeneous. CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC express high levels of SIRP $\alpha$  (30). Transcription factors that have been demonstrated to be necessary for the development of CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC include IRF2, IRF4, RelB, and NOTCH2 (19) as well as TRAF6 (31). In contrast to CD8 $\alpha^+$  DC, CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC preferentially prime CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (32-34).

## DC as initiators of adaptive immunity

### Pathogen recognition

Cells involved in innate immune responses, including DC, are equipped with pattern recognition receptors (PRR). PRR recognize molecular patterns expressed by pathogenic microorganisms, which are commonly known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP). PRR in mammals include Toll-like receptors (TLR), RIG-I-like receptors, NOD-like receptors, AIM2-like receptors, C-type lectin receptors and intracellular DNA sensors (35). The best characterized family of PRR is TLR which are thought to have originated 700 million years ago (36). TLR have an extracellular Nterminal ligand recognition domain, a single transmembrane helix and a C-terminal cytoplasmic signaling domain (37). These signaling domains are called TIR and interact with different adaptor proteins such as the myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88), TIRAP, TRIF, TRAM and SARM (38,39). All TLRs associate with MyD88 with the exception of TLR3, which associates with TRIF (40). In addition to the MyD88-dependent signaling pathway downstream of TLR4, this receptor can associate with TRAM and TRIF instead of MyD88 (41), which provides a MyD88-independent signaling pathway downstream of TLR4 (Figure 2). Thus far 12 TLRs have been identified in mice (TLR1-9, TLR11-13). Ligation of TLRs with PAMP activates signaling cascades that lead to transcription of genes involved in antimicrobial host defense; the use of different adaptor proteins triggers different signaling cascades (42).

### DC maturation and migration

Antigen-PRR ligation on DC leads to a process in which the cell undergoes phenotypic and functional changes. This process is known as DC maturation and is necessary for the transformation of naïve DC into powerful APC capable of activating adaptive immune responses. There are three signals that DC deliver to naïve T cells in order to activate them: antigen loaded in MHC molecules, costimulation and cytokines (43). During DC maturation, DC endocytic capacity is enhanced and then eventually down-regulated (44). In addition, DC lysosomal proteolysis is also enhanced allowing antigen processing (45). Furthermore, DC upregulate the costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 that trigger CD28 in T cells (46). Finally, DC produce cytokines that instruct T cell differentiation.

Mature DC are generally identified by their high expression of MHC-II, the costimulatory molecules CD80, CD86 and CD40 as well as the chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7). However, a DC with a mature phenotype is not necessarily immunogenic and can instead induce tolerance (47).

DC can also undergo a maturation process that is independent of PRR ligation and that is known as indirect maturation. In this process, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and type I interferons (IFN) produced by hematopoietic cells induce DC maturation. (48-50). However, indirectly activated DC are poorly immunogenic due to their inability to produce inflammatory cytokines (51). In addition, it has been shown that indirectly activated DC induce T cell clonal expansion but not direct Th1 cell differentiation (52).

In order to prime T cells, DC must reach the T cell zones of lymphoid organs. Upon receiving maturation signals, DC migrate via lymph to draining lymph nodes (LN). As mentioned above, mature DC are characterized by upregulation of CCR7, which mediates DC migration to secondary lymphoid organs. Studies performed in CCR7-deficient mice showed an impaired ability of DC to migrate to LN (53). However, the sole expression of CCR7 is not sufficient for DC migration. Studies have shown that additional signals such as cysteinyl leukotrienes, prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> and CD38 are necessary for CCR7 binding to its ligands CCL19 and CCL21 (54). On the other hand, factors that negatively regulate DC migration include platelet-activating factor and adenosine (55).

#### The canonical and non-canonical NF-KB signaling pathways

The nuclear factor - $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) family of transcription factors is involved in the regulation of many immunological processes such as the production of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines and other proteins including nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and MHC molecules (56). There are 5 NF- $\kappa$ B members in mammals: ReIA (also called p65), ReIB, c-Rel, NF- $\kappa$ B1 p50 and NF- $\kappa$ B2 p52 (57). NF- $\kappa$ B transcription factors are activated through signaling pathways that are dependent or independent of the adaptor protein MyD88 (Figure 2).

In the MyD88-dependent signaling pathway, MyD88 recruits IRAK1, IRAK2 and IRAK4. The IRAK proteins become phosphorylated and then associate with TRAF6. Later on TRAF6 becomes polyubiquitinated and activates TAK and TAK-1 proteins (TABs) that consequently phosphorylate the IKK complex and finally activate MAP kinases and NF-κB. This process, also known as the classical or canonical TIR pathway, results in the nuclear accumulation of NF-κB dimers consisting of RelA and NF-κB1 p50. This ultimately leads to the production of inflammatory cytokines and costimulatory molecules among other outcomes (39,42,58).

On the other hand, the MyD88-independent signaling or noncanonical pathway relies on the activation of the NF- $\kappa$ B-inducing kinase (NIK), which induces phosphorylation of IKK $\alpha$ . IKK $\alpha$ phosphorylates p100, which becomes polyubiquitinated. This signaling pathway results in the accumulation of RelB/p52 dimers in the nucleus (59) leading to, for instance, the production of IFNinducible genes (60) and lymphoid organogenesis (56,57).

The canonical NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway responds to numerous stimuli derived from different receptors. Contrarily, the noncanonical pathway responds to specific receptors such as members of the TNF receptor superfamily (57). One example is CD40, a costimulatory molecule expressed on antigen presenting cells (APC) like dendritic cells and B cells. Its ligand CD154 (CD40L) is expressed mainly by activated T and B cells (61). CD40/CD154 engagement triggers both the canonical and non-canonical NF- $\kappa$ B pathways (62) that have been shown to act synergistically in DC. For instance, there is evidence suggesting that the non-canonical NF- $\kappa$ B pathway activated by CD40 signaling is involved in DC survival mechanisms as well as cross-presentation of antigen to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (63). Some studies have investigated synergistic signals in DC that drive T cells responses using TLR-agonists or bacterial or parasite extracts (64,65). Using  $\alpha$ -galactoceramide as an antigen, another study showed that DC upregulate CD80 and CD86 independently of CD40 ligation. However, regardless of their mature phenotype, DC require CD40 ligation to induce T cell responses (66).



Figure 2. Canonical and non-canonical NF-KB activation pathways

## Intestinal DC

The intestine is constantly exposed to numerous antigens and microbial populations and the intestinal immune system has the crucial task of distinguishing, for example, pathogenic microorganisms from beneficial ones such as the intestinal microbiota. Intestinal DC play a major role in this task by activating defense mechanisms against invading pathogens or inducing tolerance to self-proteins (30,67,68). In intestinal tissue, DC are located in intestinal lamina propria (LP), Peyer's patches (PP), isolated lymphoid follicles and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN).

## Subsets of Intestinal DC

Intestinal DC can be classified into subsets according to their expression of the integrin CD103. Intestinal CD103<sup>+</sup> DC have been described in small intestine LP (siLP), colonic LP, intestinal lymph, PP and MLN (13,69). A remarkable function of this subset is the preferential ability to drive Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cell (Tregs) differentiation via the transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) and retinoic acid, where DC can generate the latter from dietary vitamin A (70,71). Nonetheless, CD103<sup>+</sup> DC can also drive effector T cell differentiation (13,69,72). Another key feature is that intestinal CD103<sup>+</sup> DC promote intestinal T cell homing. For instance, they induce the upregulation of CCR9 in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, which gives them the capacity to migrate to the small intestine (73,74).

CD103<sup>+</sup> intestinal DC can be further classified according to expression of CD11b and their localization, developmental requirements and function (30,75). CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> DC express high levels of CD8 $\alpha$  and are the most abundant subset in colonic LP (76). Their development depends on the transcription factors BATF3, IRF8 and Id2 (30). Phenotypically, these cells display prominent "spiny" dendrites and function-wise, have been shown to induce IFN- $\gamma$  production by T cells (77,78).

CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC are the major subset in the siLP (23,75) and their development is mediated by the transcription factors IRF4 and

NOTCH2 (34,79). Compared to the CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> DC, CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC display shorter and more evenly-spaced protrusions (77). These cells have been shown to drive Th17 cell differentiation through the production of IL-6 (79). In response to flagellin, CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC are an important source of IL-23 (80). In addition, production of this cytokine by CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC was shown to be important in the resolution of and infection with *Citrobacter rodentium* (81). Moreover, a study showed that CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> stimulated by flagellin induce the development of immunoglobulin A (IgA)-producing cells (82).

On the other hand, the CD103<sup>-</sup> intestinal DC subset has not been studied in detail and the transcription factors involved in their development are yet to be defined (30). Recent studies have shown that these cells are indeed *bona fide* DC as their development is regulated by Flt3L and they express the DC-specific transcription factor Zbtb46 (12,77). CD103<sup>-</sup> DC can present antigen and activate CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and are also capable of cross-presenting antigen to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (77). These DC are also classified according to CD11b expression. Both CD103<sup>-</sup> DC subsets induce differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells; however only the CD103<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC induce differentiation of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells (77). Moreover, a significant proportion of the CD103<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC express CCR2 and are involved in inducing Th17 cell differentiation (12). In addition, CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> DC in the MLN regulate T cell responses to flagellin through TLR5 (83).

CD103<sup>-</sup> DC can be further classified according to their expression of the CX3 chemokine receptor 1 (CX<sub>3</sub>CR1) giving rise to two populations, one that expresses CD11b and an intermediate level of CX<sub>3</sub>CR1 and the other that does not express CX<sub>3</sub>CR1 or CD11b (77).

#### Intestinal DC migration to MLN

In the MLN there are two DC populations that express different levels of MHC-II. Resident DC that enter the MLN directly from the blood express an intermediate level of MHC-II. On the other hand, migratory DC coming from the intestine via lymph express high levels of MHC-II (79). Intestinal DC migrate via lymph from the LP to the MLN through a CCR7-dependent process (13,73,77,84-86). DC migration occurs during both inflammation and steady-state conditions (87). DC were first identified in lymph by thoracic duct cannulation in rats whose MLN were previously surgically removed (88-90). Studies have shown that CD103<sup>+</sup> DC are reduced in MLN of CCR7 deficient mice (73). In addition, CD103<sup>+</sup> DC have been identified as the most abundant DC subset in intestinal lymph (13,77). Furthermore, a recent study showed that CD103-CD11b+CX3CR1int DC also migrate in lymph, which distinguishes them from CX<sub>3</sub>CR1<sup>high</sup> macrophages that are unable to migrate to MLN (13,77). However, the latter is controversial as studies have suggested that after antibiotic treatment and therefore disruption of the microbiota, DC expressing CX<sub>3</sub>CR1 migrate to the MLN, and these cells were described as either being positive or high for expression of CX<sub>3</sub>CR1 (91,92).

## 1.2 Intestinal Microbiota

## Composition

The microbiota is a population composed of several types of bacteria, fungi, viruses and other eukaryotic species that live in symbiosis with a multicellular organism (93). In humans the microbiota resides in skin and mucosal areas such as the upper respiratory tract, vagina and the gastrointestinal tract (94). For every cell in the human body there are ten microbes in the gastrointestinal tract, which makes it the most colonized surface, harboring 100-fold more bacteria than the skin (95). Over 99% of the composition of the human intestinal microbiota is bacterial and consists of more than a thousand species (96), most of them being obligate anaerobes (97). According to the analysis of fecal samples, the majority of the bacterial species that constitute the intestinal microbiota belong to two phyla, Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes (98).

Mammals acquire their microbiota during birth and later on through their interaction with other organisms and the environment (99). Several factors influence the composition of the microbiota throughout life including the geographic location, diet, genetics, disease and medication (100). Among these the diet has received special attention. For instance, studies have shown that a diet rich in fat and refined carbohydrates leads to a microbiota composition different from diets rich in fibers (101).

## Features

### Host-microbiota mutualism

The microbiota indeed contributes to host homeostasis. However, overstimulation of intestinal immune responses by the microbiota can result in inflammation in which the mutualistic relationship with the host is broken. Therefore it is important to keep it compartmentalized. There is evidence showing that signaling through TLR is needed for efficient commensal compartmentalization as commensals are found in the spleen of MyD88 and TRIF knockouts (102). Indeed, some studies have linked DC migration and intestinal microbiota. For example, studies have shown that the absence of MyD88 signaling induces goblet cell-mediated commensal translocation from the colonic lumen that is followed by commensal transport to the MLN by CX<sub>3</sub>CR1<sup>+</sup> cells (91,92).

Specalized cells and molecules of the host, such as the mucus and antimicrobial peptides, restricts translocation of intestinal commensals across the intestinal epithelium with the MLN being a "mucosal firewall" that prevents further systemic bacterial penetration (103). IgA, which is mostly induced by the intestinal microbiota, is a molecule important in keeping intestinal commensals compartmentalized (104). It has been shown that, depending on the microbiota species, both low and high-affinity IgA are needed to prevent commensal invasion (105). The need to keep the microbiota compartmentalized is extended to infection conditions. For instance, a recent study showed that the liver acts as a firewall that prevents commensals from entering the blood during intestinal infection with a pathogen (106).

Additionally, the intestinal immune system prevents unnecessary immune responses to the microbiota through processes mediated by Tregs (93,107). It has been shown that the specificity of intestinal Tregs is highly influenced by the composition of the microbiota (108). Furthermore, several microbiota species such as *Clostridia* are involved in the expansion and differentiation of Tregs (109,110). In addition, the capsular polysaccharide-A present in *Bacteroides fragilis* promotes proliferation of Tregs in a MyD88dependent manner(111). It has been proposed that commensals induce Tregs through metabolic products such as short chain fatty acids (112). The role of the microbiota in inducing the development of Tregs is illustrated in the defective function of Tregs in the MLN of germ-free (GF) mice (113). In addition, colonization of GF mice results in the development of Tregs in the colonic LP (114).

### Metabolic processes

One of the most important features of our mutualistic relationship with the microbiota is its contribution to host metabolism. For instance, it has been shown that the intestinal microbiota stimulates the production of triglycerides by the host and promotes their storage (115). In addition, the intestinal microbiota is also involved in the metabolism of secondary bile acids and inhibits the synthesis of hepatic bile acids in the liver (116). Furthermore, the microbiota plays a role in the metabolism of toxic compounds such as pyrolysates and helps in the biotransformation of drugs and their metabolites (117).

### Role in development of lymphoid structures

The development of secondary lymphoid organs such as PP and MLN occurs before birth and is therefore independent of the intestinal microbiota. However, the maturation of these tissues is

related to postnatal microbial colonization (118). In addition, the development of tertiary lymphoid tissues such as isolated lymphoid follicles and cryptopatches is also induced by the microbiota (119).

#### Effects on host immune cells

Effector T cell responses are also affected by the microbiota. For instance, in the absence of the intestinal flora there is a reduction of the number of inducible Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T cells in the colonic LP (109). Furthermore, ATP-dependent and independent mechanisms that influence the development of Th17 cells are also dependent on the microbiota (120,121). Regarding B cells, a study showed that development of B cells in LP is influenced by microbial colonization, as less Ig $\lambda^+$  B cells are found in LP of GF mice (122). Moreover, the absence of the intestinal microbiota leads to reduced numbers of IgA-producing B cells as well as immature development of germinal centers in PP (123).

In addition to the effects of the intestinal microbiota on T and B cells, it is also implicated in the regulation of LP phagocytes. For example, the microbiota promotes expression of pro-IL1 $\beta$  by macrophages and neutrophils and enhances IL-10 production by macrophages (107). Furthermore, microbial compounds are necessary to drive steady-state development of myeloid cell populations and the numbers of bone marrow granulocytes and monocytes correlate positively with the complexity of the microbiota (124). Finally, there is some evidence that the intestinal microbiota plays a role in the recruitment, development and activation of intraepithelial lymphocytes (IEL), specially TCR $\gamma\delta$  IEL (125,126).

#### Associated pathologies

Studies have shown that the impact of the microbiota in host metabolic processes, mainly those related to fat storage, can lead to metabolic disorders such as obesity, insulin resistance and diabetes (127-131). In addition, other studies have linked some metabolites

produced by the intestinal microbiota with cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis (132,133).

The use of antimicrobial products has been recently encouraged due to the importance of, or perhaps obsession with, cleanliness that exists especially in western countries. The indiscriminate and prolonged used of these products, as well as other factors, produces alterations in the composition of the gut microbiota that has been shown to have an impact in the development of allergies (134,135). Moreover, reductions in the complexity of the intestinal microbiota are associated with inflammatory bowel diseases (134,136,137). Finally, there is some evidence indicating that the dysbiosis of the microbiota leads to altered host immune responses that are linked to cancer (93).

## Microbiota and infection with intestinal pathogens

#### Protection vs. promotion

The ability of the microbiota to inhibit colonization by invading pathogens is a phenomenon first described five decades ago and known as colonization resistance (138,139). The microbiota can inhibit pathogen outgrown through microbe-microbe interactions such as competition for nutrients and space as well as the release of bactericidal compounds called bacteriocins (140). Moreover, microbiota-derived metabolic products such as acetate and shortchain fatty acids provide protection by, for example, inhibiting pathogen growth or avoiding the absorption of toxins (141,142).

The microbiota is also involved in epithelial cell renewal, which is important for keeping the intestinal barrier intact. In addition, the microbiota plays a role in the regulation of the mucus layer, intestinal permeability as well as production, quantity and quality of antimicrobial peptides (92,143). Additional studies have also suggested that the microbiota offers protection against infection through the regulation of innate lymphoid cells (107). For instance, a study showed that colonization of mice with commensal segmented filamentous bacterium (SFB) induces IL-17 and IL-22 production and increases resistance to the pathogen *Citrobacter rodentium* (121).

Some studies have revealed a role of the microbiota in the promotion of parasitic infections. For example, hatching of *Trichuris muris* eggs in the intestine is dependent on the microbiota (144). In addition, the microbiota can also promote viral infections as shown in studies where the microbiota enhanced the pathogenesis of poliovirus, reovirus and mouse mammary tumor virus (145,146). Regarding bacterial pathogens, a study showed that the increased levels of sialic acid induced by the microbiota promote *Clostridium difficile* expansion (147).

As mentioned earlier, alterations in the composition of the microbiota can lead to homeostasis disturbance. This also involves the promotion of intestinal infections. The inflammatory responses that the host mounts alter the composition of the microbiota and this is enhanced by pathogenic invasion (148). For instance, a study showed that the chances of invasion by a pathogen are increased with the presence of commensal species that are related to the pathogen i.e. hosts that harbor high numbers of commensal Escherichia coli species are more susceptible to infection with Salmonella (149). It has also been reported that the accumulation of commensal Enterobacteriaceae during inflammation aggravated the effects of Toxoplasma gondii infection (150,151). Another study showed that the parasite Heligmosomoides polygyrus increases the proportion of Lactobacillus among the microbiota and this in turn promotes the infection by the parasite (152). Finally, using the streptomycin mouse model where caecum and colon colonization as well as colonic inflammation are enhanced (153,154), it was demonstrated that Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium (S. typhimurium) induce inflammation to alter microbiota composition and outcompete commensal growth (155).

Besides altering the microbiota composition, some pathogens have other strategies to subvert the competition. For example, *S. typhimurium* has the ability to use tetrathionate as an electron acceptor, which constitutes an advantage for the pathogen over fermenting gut microbes (156). In addition, *S. typhimurium* subverts calprotectin-induced zinc sequestration through a high affinity zinc transporter, which promotes its growth over that of the microbiota (157).

## 1.3 Salmonella infection

Theobald Smith discovered *Salmonella* in 1885; nevertheless the genus is named after his mentor Daniel Elmer Salmon, who received credit for the discovery (158).

Salmonella are facultative intracellular, Gram-negative bacteria that infect a broad range of hosts and cause a variety of diseases from gastroenteritis to typhoid fever (159). There are two species of Salmonella: S. bongori and S. enterica, and the latter is further divided into six subspecies: enterica, salamae, arizonae, diarizonae, houtenae and indica (160). S. enterica subspecies serovars Typhi and Paratyphi are the etiological agents of human typhoid fever and cause more than 20 million cases and 200 000 fatalities worldwide per year (161,162). Certain areas in Asia and Africa have a higher typhoid fever burden due to limited access to clean water and poor sanitation (163) whereas in developed countries it has become predominantly a travel-associated disease (164). A number of multidrug resistant strains have appeared in the last years limiting the treatment options for typhoid fever (165,166) and increasing the need for safe and effective vaccines. S. typhimurium causes a mild gastroenteritis in humans whereas in susceptible mice it causes a systemic infection similar to typhoid fever, which makes it a suitable model for the study of this disease (167).

## Salmonella's invasion mechanisms

The infection is initiated by ingestion of contaminated food or water. Salmonella has an acid tolerance response that allows survival in the stomach despite the low pH (168) and results in bacteria reaching the intestine. Salmonella then crosses the epithelial barrier by transcytosis after penetrating mainly the M cells of the PP (169,170). M cells are specialized epithelial cells that constitute an antigen sampling system due to their ability to transport microorganisms and macromolecules to the intestinal lumen (171). typhimurium increase Μ cell numbers bv inducing S. transdifferentiation of enterocytes into M cells (172) and can also induce death of the M cell allowing microorganisms to cross to the lumen (169).

Due to the type 3 secretion system (TTSS) encoded in *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 1 (SPI-1), *Salmonella* can penetrate via non-phagocytic cells such as epithelial cells. The TTSS apparatus is assembled as a consequence of *Salmonella* sensing the environmental conditions of the small intestine (173). It consists of two main protein complexes. More than 20 proteins form a needle-like complex through which effector molecules are injected into the host cell cytosol. Another set of proteins form the translocon, which forms a translocation pore in the cell membrane of the host facilitating the injection of the effector molecules (174). These effector proteins induce reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton that leads to macropynocytosis by host cells allowing bacterial internalization (175).

S. typhimurium lacking a functional TTSS can also reach the basolateral side of the epithelium through an alternative pathway. For example, it has been shown *in vitro* that ileal phagocytes expressing CX<sub>3</sub>CR1 sample bacteria from the intestinal lumen through the formation of transepithelial dendrites (176). These are able to cross the epithelial layer by opening the tight junctions between epithelial cells and take up microorganisms without disrupting the epithelial barrier (177). The transepithelial dendrites increase in the terminal ileum during *Salmonella* infection.

However, Salmonella-dendrite association is an infrequent process in vivo (178). Another study using the streptomycin mouse model that typhimurium lacking required showed S. TTSS CD11c<sup>+</sup>CX<sub>3</sub>CR1<sup>+</sup> phagocytes to cross the epithelium in an early phase of the infection and the process was MyD88-independent (179). Additional studies in vitro have provided evidence of another M-cell independent translocation pathway, in which virulent S. typhimurium alters the distribution of intercellular tight junction proteins disrupting epithelial barrier integrity and promoting bacterial translocation (180,181).

## Tissue colonization by Salmonella

Once Salmonella reach the intestine, they seed PP and the LP. Salmonella can be detected in PP at early time points after oral infection followed by MLN (182), and 48 hours post infection the PP are more colonized than the MLN (49,183). How Salmonella reach the MLN from the LP and/or PP has been an area of active research for quiet some time. It has been suggested that Salmonella travel from the intestine to the MLN via the lymph inside cells or as free bacteria (184). However, the proportion of Salmonella reaching the MLN extracellularly versus the proportion reaching the MLN transported inside cells is poorly understood. There is evidence suggesting that Salmonella reach the MLN inside DC. For instance, DC have been shown to transport intestinal commensals to the MLN (89). In addition, DC expansion in mice through injection of Flt3L-secreting cells resulted in higher S. Typhimurium counts in MLN (185) and depletion of CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells as well as infection of mice with impaired DC migration resulted in less S. Typhimurium in MLN (185,186). Furthermore, using the streptomycin mouse model (153) a study showed that the CD103+CD11b+ subset of DC was the only DC subset found to contain Salmonella in the MLN early after oral infection despite the other subsets carrying Salmonella in the LP (75). Moreover, there is some evidence of CX<sub>3</sub>CR1expressing cells being involved in Salmonella transport to the MLN in the absence of commensals (91). However, as mentioned earlier,

this is controversial as cells expressing high levels of CX<sub>3</sub>CR1 have been reported to be non-migratory macrophages (77), while cells with an intermediate expression of CX<sub>3</sub>CR1 are migratory and can be found in lymph (77). Further studies are necessary to elucidate more specifically the role of DCs and subsets thereof in transporting *Salmonella* from the LP to the MLN.

### Systemic dissemination

Salmonella infection is not confined to intestinal tissues and they are also found in systemic tissues such as spleen (187-189), liver (190-193), bone marrow (194) and gall bladder (195) mainly inside macrophages, DC and neutrophils (196). However, the mechanisms through which Salmonella reaches systemic organs are unclear. Initial studies showed that Salmonella could only be found in systemic organs such as spleen and liver when PP and MLN were heavily infected (182). Since the efferent lymph of the MLN empties into the blood, Salmonella could spread from MLN to systemic tissues via lymph-blood (196,197). This is supported by studies demonstrating that the surgical removal of MLN resulted in higher numbers of S. typhimurium reaching systemic sites and supports that the MLN limits bacterial systemic dissemination during early stages of the infection (103,185,198). However, alternative mechanisms may exist. For example, one study showed that S. typhimurium was found in the bloodstream inside CD18+ phagocytic cells independently of M cell invasion within 5 minutes after oral gavage (199). This suggests almost immediate access of intestinal bacteria to the blood. Moreover, recent experiments using a pool of tagged S. typhimurium strains showed that the infection of liver and spleen was caused by a different pool of bacteria than the one colonizing PP and MLN (186). This further supports that Salmonella in systemic tissues access the blood without necessarily colonizing intestinal lymphoid organs. Moreover, a study on systemic dissemination of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis showed similar results (200). Thus, Salmonella colonization of systemic organs may originate from both bacteria that colonized PP and MLN and bacteria that reached the blood directly from the

intestine. Further studies are needed to determine the relative contribution of the different routes that *Salmonella* exploits to disseminate systemically.

### Innate immunity to Salmonella

The innate immune system constitutes the first line of defense against *Salmonella* and other bacterial infections; it becomes active rapidly after the infection initiates and its main goal is to stop bacterial penetration and/or replication.

#### The mucus layer and antimicrobial peptides

The mucus blanket that covers the gut epithelium functions as a physical protective barrier against invasion by commensals and intestinal pathogens. Its main components are glycoproteins called mucins, which are secreted by goblet cells (201). During S. typhimurium infection, goblet cells release mucus into the gut lumen from mucus-filled vacuoles whose formation is induced by IFN-yreceptor-signaling (202). Furthermore, TNF- $\alpha$  is another cytokine thought to be involved in the regulation of mucus production in S. typhimurium infection (203). Many bacterial species have the ability to degrade mucus and reach the epithelial layer; S. typhimurium does so by binding preferentially to a mucin called Mucus-Rs, which could constitute the first site of bacterial interaction in the intestine (204). It must be taken into consideration, however, that the thickness of the mucus blanket in the ileum, where Salmonella mainly penetrates in models with intact microbiota, is half as thick as in the colon (205).

Antimicrobial peptides, which are short polypeptides that provide protection against microorganisms (206,207), are other molecules that are also part of the innate immune system. Most antimicrobial peptides target the cell membrane and thereafter cause cell damage by, for example, inhibiting protein synthesis (208). In the gastrointestinal tract epithelial cells, mainly Paneth cells, are the predominant cells expressing antimicrobial peptides (209,210). An example of an antimicrobial peptide that offers protection against *S. typhimurium* is WRWYCR, which inhibits DNA repair enzymes (211). In addition, expression of peptides such as RegIII $\beta$  are increased during *S. typhimurium* infection (212). However, RegIII $\beta$  kills commensals but not *S. typhimurium* which could promote infection instead of preventing it (212).

In addition to the mucus layer and the production of antimicrobial peptides, the intestinal microbiota also promotes protection against invading pathogens like *Salmonella* as discussed in section 1.2.

### Recognition of Salmonella by innate immune cells

As mentioned in section 1.1, DC and other phagocytes are equipped with PRR such as TLR that allow them to recognize invading pathogens. *Salmonella* express TLR ligands such as bacterial lipoproteins, lipopolysaccharide, flagellin and CpG DNA, which are recognized by TLR-2, TLR-4, TLR-5 and TLR-9, respectively. Mice lacking TLR2 and TLR4 show a greater susceptibility to infection. However, when TLR9 is also absent, mice are less susceptible to infection due to poor *Salmonella* replication inside macrophages. This indicates that TLR signaling is necessary to activate certain *Salmonella* virulence factors (213).

#### Phagocyte accumulation in intestinal tissues

Myeloid cells such as neutrophils, monocytes and macrophages play a crucial role in controlling the infection at early stages through phagocytosis-mediated killing and the induction of inflammation. Neutrophils are the first cells to respond to *Salmonella* infection (214). They accumulate rapidly in PP and MLN of infected mice (183,215) and their recruitment seems to be mediated by the chemokine CXCL2 (216). The main function of neutrophils is to kill extracellular bacteria to confine and reduce bacterial replication (197). The importance of neutrophils is illustrated with the fact that neutropenia increases susceptibility to *Salmonella* infection (217,218). Inflammatory monocytes are phagocytic cells that together with neutrophils are rapidly recruited to *Salmonella*-infected tissues (183,216). Although these cells are not as efficient in phagocytizing *Salmonella* as neutrophils, their main function is also to control initial bacterial replication (183). Macrophages resident in tissues are also phagocytic and defend the host against pathogens through antimicrobial functions. Infected macrophages kill *Salmonella* mainly through lysosomal enzymes and reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates (197), which are critical to host survival to *Salmonella* infection (219). Moreover, inactivation or depletion of macrophages leads to increased growth of *Salmonella* (220,221).

NK cells are also part of innate immunity and play a role during *Salmonella* infection by contributing to early production of IFN- $\gamma$  (222-224). In fact, it has been shown that there is a crosstalk between NK cells and macrophages during *Salmonella* infection in which macrophages activate NK cells and the latter produce IFN- $\gamma$  that activates macrophages (225). However, although it has been shown that NK cells alone can produce enough IFN- $\gamma$  during an early stage of the infection to control bacterial growth (223), their ablation does not prevent the mice from clearing the infection (226).

DC are also phagocytic cells but, as discussed above, their most important function is as APC rather than killing bacteria to control replication and spread. *Salmonella* that cross the epithelium overlying PP encounter a population of DC expressing CCR6 that play an important role in activating *Salmonella*-specific T cells (227). Approximately 10% of cells in PP are DC (171) and *Salmonella*associated DC are found in this tissue shortly after infection (50). As discussed before, DC maturation is crucial for the activation of naïve T cells. During *Salmonella* infection DC maturation occurs as a consequence of direct association with bacteria or via an indirect pathway mediated by TNFRI signaling. DC in PP, MLN and spleen up-regulate costimulatory molecules in *Salmonella*-infected mice and gain a mature phenotype (49,50,228). Phagocyte killing of Salmonella and the Salmonella-containing vacuole Phagocytes kill bacteria through antimicrobial substances such as proteases, lysozyme and reactive oxygen and nitrogen species produced by Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase and iNOS, respectively (219,229,230). (NADPH) Inflammatory monocytes are the predominant producers of iNOS and its production is dependent on IL-12 and IFN- $\gamma$  (183,231). When Salmonella are engulfed by phagocytes, they reside in compartments known as Salmonella-containing intracellular vacuoles (SCV). Salmonella are able to survive inside SCV thanks to the TTSS encoded in SPI-2 (232,233), which inhibits trafficking of vesicles containing antimicrobial substances as well as phagosomelysosome fusion (234). Macrophages kill bacteria through the acidification of the SCV. However, a recent study showed that Salmonella acidifies its own cytoplasm, which in turn activates the secretion of SP1-2 effectors that enable bacterial survival inside macrophages (235). Salmonella replication inside macrophages is followed by escape from the infected macrophage and infection of additional macrophages (236).

Although macrophages and neutrophils use similar mechanisms to kill intracellular bacteria, *Salmonella* can survive and replicate inside macrophages while neutrophils and inflammatory monocytes have a greater capacity to kill *Salmonella* (231). This might be explained by the basic environment in neutrophil phagosome which differs from the acidified phagosome in macrophages (237). In addition, while neutrophils and inflammatory monocytes kill *Salmonella* through NADPH oxidase, macrophages produce a non-fatal oxidative stress and use NADPH oxidase-independent mechanisms to kill bacteria (231).

## The role of cytokines in immunity to Salmonella

IFN- $\gamma$  activates cells such as macrophages and NK cells, facilitates antigen processing and presentation on MHC-I and -II, directs Th1 differentiation of T cells and is involved in leukocyte recruitment by stimulating chemokine production (238). IFN- $\gamma$  plays an important role in host survival to *Salmonella* as neutralization of this cytokine in mice prevents bacterial clearance even with a sub-lethal dose of the pathogen (239). Furthermore, IFN- $\gamma$  knockout mice show higher bacterial counts in all the organs and fail to upregulate MHC-II to the same extent as wildtype mice (240). As stated above, NK cells are the most important source of IFN- $\gamma$  at early stages of the infection (223), whereas when the adaptive immune responses are activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells become the main producers of this cytokine (228). In addition, IFN- $\gamma$ -producing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells also have a role during innate immune responses as they become activated via an antigen-independent mechanism mediated by IL-18 (241). Moreover, a study using the streptomycin mouse model showed that IFN- $\gamma$  also controls mucus accumulation/secretion by goblet cells during *Salmonella* infection (202).

Since IFN- $\gamma$  is such an important cytokine in the control of *Salmonella* infection, cytokines such as IL-12 and IL-18 that have IFN- $\gamma$ -inducing properties are also crucial. These two cytokines are produced mainly by macrophages and their neutralization results in decreased survival (242). Other cytokines that play an indirect role are IL-15 and IL-24. While IL-15 neutralization results in poor development of NK cells and therefore diminished IFN- $\gamma$  production (243), IL-24 induces IFN- $\gamma$  and nitric oxide production by neutrophils (244).

TNF- $\alpha$  is another crucial cytokine in the control of *Salmonella* infection. Its main functions are the attraction of inflammatory cells, induction of apoptosis and reinforcement of some IFN- $\gamma$  functions (184). Furthermore, *Salmonella*-induced TNF- $\alpha$  mediates indirect DC maturation during infection (49). Studies performed in TNF- $\alpha$  knockout mice showed higher susceptibility to *Salmonella* infection (245).

Some cytokines associated with Th17 responses are also important. For example, IL-6 has been shown to be upregulated during *Salmonella* infection (246,247) and is required to control inflammatory responses such as the level of proinflammatory cytokines (248). IL-17 is also upregulated during *Salmonella* infection and plays a role in neutrophil recruitment. Moreover, IL-17 knockout mice have higher *Salmonella* counts in systemic organs (249). IL-17-producing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are detected in mucosal tissues after *Salmonella* infection (250) and CD4<sup>+</sup> Th17 cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells produce IL-17 that contributes in the defense responses (251). Regarding IL-22, IL-23-dependent IL-22 is associated with protection against systemic *Salmonella* infection in the absence of IL-12 (252). Moreover there is some evidence that IL-22 is also involved in the production of the microbial peptide lipocalin-2 during *Salmonella* infection(253).

## Adaptive immunity to Salmonella

Adaptive immune responses to *Salmonella* infection start when activated DC prime naïve T cells by the presentation of *Salmonella* antigens in lymphoid tissues. However, *Salmonella* can evade the initiation of adaptive immune responses through processes that are SPI-2 TTSS-mediated. These include inhibiting the loading of bacterial peptides on MHC molecules, which leads to poor T cell activation (254-256). Nonetheless, adaptive immunity is ultimately needed, as innate immune responses control bacterial replication during early stages of the infection but, as underscored by the importance of T cells described below, are not sufficient for bacterial clearance.

### T cells and immunity to Salmonella

The importance of T cells in immune responses to *Salmonella* has been known for a long time. Experiments in mice lacking or having inactivated T cells showed that these cells are indispensable to clear a primary *Salmonella* infection (257-260).

Resistance to *Salmonella* is mediated mainly by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (257,259) that are mostly skewed towards Th1 cells capable of secreting IFN- $\gamma$  (197,228,261). Indeed, one of the main roles of T
cells during *Salmonella* infection is the production of IFN- $\gamma$ , which activates macrophages and increases their bactericidal capacity (262). Activated Th1 cells can be detected already one week after the infection starts (263,264). Furthermore, *Salmonella*-specific memory T cells are important contributors in secondary infections (265-267); IFN- $\gamma$ -secreting CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells persist in mice for at least 6 months after the first challenge (264,267). Regarding Th17 responses, there is some evidence that they play a role in immunity to *Salmonella*. For instance, the production of cytokines associated with Th17 cells, such as IL-17, IL-22 and IL-23, is augmented in *Salmonella* infection (268). Furthermore, it has been shown that the absence of IL-17 promotes *Salmonella* dissemination to MLN and systemic tissues and impairs recruitment of neutrophils (251,269). In addition, another study documented that flagellin-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells differentiated into Th1 and Th17 lineages (250).

Although their role is smaller, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells also contribute in combating *Salmonella* infection. *Salmonella*-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are induced after infection (267). Studies performed using *Salmonella* expressing ovalbumin (OVA) protein have shown that expansion of OVA-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells peaks around three weeks post infection (270,271). Furthermore, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are also contributors to the production of IFN- $\gamma$  (228,241,266). Some studies have suggested that MHC-I-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are important only in secondary infections (257,272). However, another study showed that these cells play a protective role via cytolytic granule release during primary infection but do not contribute significantly during a second response (273). Finally, it has been shown that months after immunization, memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are detected in response to restimulation with *Salmonella* lysate or attenuated strains (266,274).

#### B cells and antibody responses

Less emphasis has been put on the role of B cells in *Salmonella* infection in comparison to T cells. One reason could be the thinking that antibodies play an important role in the immune

responses against extracellular rather than intracellular pathogens like Salmonella (275). However, it is important to consider that there are specific times when Salmonella is extracellular, for example when they are released from an infected cell before they However, infect another (276). а study showed that antibody/complement-mediated killing of Salmonella takes from 5 to 10 minutes, which is enough time for some bacteria to escape from antibodies by re-entering into intracellular spaces (277). Nonetheless, the presence of anti-Salmonella antibodies overcomes Salmonella's ability to evade the initiation of adaptive immune responses. For example, binding of opsonized Salmonella to Fcy receptors expressed on DC promotes phagosome-lysosome fusion, which leads to bacterial degradation and peptide presentation even in the presence of TTSS-derived effector proteins (278).

Experiments performed in Igµ knockout mice, which lack B cells and therefore antibody production, showed that B cells play an important role in infection with virulent strains of *Salmonella*. In contrast, these cells were dispensable in infections with attenuated strains (279). However, B cell-derived antibodies produced during an infection with an attenuated strain were necessary for protection against a secondary challenge with a virulent strain (280).

In addition, the role of B cells in *Salmonella* infection is also reflected in their crosstalk with T cells. One study showed that human B cell lines are able to present *Salmonella* antigens to human T cells (281). Furthermore, in another study, T cells from B cell deficient mice showed reduced ability to release IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  in the context of a *Salmonella* infection (282).

## 2 AIMS

The overall aims of this thesis were to expand the knowledge on the role of DC in oral *Salmonella* infection as well as analyze the impact of the microbiota on early stages of oral *Salmonella* infection.

Specific aims of the thesis:

- I. To investigate the synergistic effect that MyD88dependent NF $\kappa$ B signaling and CD40-dependent NF $\kappa$ B2 signaling in DC have in the T cell response against *Salmonella*.
- II. To address the influence of the intestinal microbiota in *Salmonella* colonization in different tissues as well as in cytokine production in response to the infection.
- III. To determine the role of intestinal CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC in oral *Salmonella* infection.

## 3 KEY METHODOLOGY

This section provides a broad description of the methods used in the studies contained in this thesis. For more detailed information consult the Materials and Methods section of the individual papers.

### 3.1 Mice

The different susceptibility to *Salmonella* infection between mouse strains is associated with the allele *Slc11a1* (previously known as *Nramp1*) (283). The mouse strain C57BL6/J, which is the genetic background of the mice used throughout these studies, has a mutation *Slc11a1* and is susceptible to *Salmonella* infection.

In paper I the mouse strains used were C57BL6 wildtype controls (WT) as well as mice deficient in CD40, MyD88, or both by generating a double knockout strain for the study. In paper II, germ-free (GF), conventionally raised mice (CONV-R) and WT mice with or without antibiotic treatment were used. Finally, in paper III, the studies were performed in Cre<sup>+</sup> (IRF4 knockouts) and Cre<sup>-</sup> (control) mice. Cre<sup>+</sup> is the designation for CD11c-cre.Irf4<sup>fl/fl</sup> and CD11c-cre.Irf4<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice, which lack expression of IRF4 in CD11c cells. These mice have alterations in the number of CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> intestinal DCs (79). Cre<sup>-</sup> refers to Irf4<sup>fl/fl</sup> and Irf4<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice whose CD11c cells express IRF4 and are therefore used as controls (79).

All experiments were performed following protocols approved by the government animal ethics committee (permits 311-2010 and 212-2013) and institutional animal care and use guidelines. Animals were bred and housed in the Laboratory for Experimental Biomedicine, University of Gothenburg.

### 3.2 Salmonella strains and infections

The *S. typhimurium* strains used in these studies were the SR11 derivatives  $\chi$ 4550 (228,266) (papers I and II) and  $\chi$ 8554 (183) as well as the WT strain SL1344 (paper III) (49).

The SR11 derivative  $\chi$ 4550 has a reduced virulence compared to the WT strain due to deletions in the genes encoding adenylate cyclase and the cyclic AMP receptor protein (266). On the other hand, the derivative  $\chi$ 8554 has a comparable virulence to the WT strain. Both  $\chi$ 4550 and  $\chi$ 8554 contain the vector pYA3259 into which the model antigen ovalbumin (OVA) was cloned (228) and were chosen in anticipation of the need to eventually analyze T cell responses in future experiments.

Strains were grown overnight at  $37^{\circ}$ C. The bacterial concentration was determined spectrophotometrically at OD<sub>600</sub> and diluted to the desired concentration in sterile PBS. The bacterial doses were administered intragastrically or IP. The actual bacterial dose administered, as well as the bacterial burden in *Salmonella*-infected organs at the time of sacrifice, were determined by plating serial dilutions of bacterial or cell suspensions on LB agar plates and counting CFU.

### 3.3 Cell suspensions

For determining bacterial burden in *Salmonella*-infected organs, the analysis of cells by flow cytometry as well as cytokine and nucleic acid quantification, the preparation of single cell suspensions of the different organs is first needed. To this end, PP, small intestine, MLN and spleen were incubated in a digestion solution containing collagenase, DNase and Dispase. After filtration, the concentration of the cell suspensions was determined.

### 3.4 Flow cytometry

The study of immunological processes *in vivo* generally requires the analysis of distinct cell types in different tissues that can be specifically identified by expression of surface molecules. Flow cytometry is a technique that allows identification and quantification of cell populations in complex cell mixtures (284). In paper I, multicolor flow cytometry was used to analyze T cell proliferation. In paper II, this technique facilitated the study of IFN- $\gamma$  production by NK, NKT, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> cells. Finally, in paper III the study of diverse cell populations such as DC, myeloid cells and T cells was possible thanks to flow cytometry.

### 3.5 Cytokine analysis

In paper I, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-10 were measured in serum samples and in supernatants from DC and T cell co-cultures using the enzymelinked immunosorbant assay (ELISA). This technique is extensively used worldwide and provides a sensitive and reliable analysis of a single analyte (285,286).

In papers II and III different cytokines were measured in lysates of whole organs. For this purpose the organs were incubated in a solution containing saponin and the supernatants were then collected and analyzed. IL-12 (paper II) and IL-6 and IL-17 (paper III) were analyzed using a bead-based multiplex immunoassay, which allows the simultaneous detection and quantification of multiple analytes in a shorter period of time compared to other techniques (287).

### 3.6 Gene expression

In paper I, the expression of the genes A20, ABIN-2, c-Rel, NIK, TICAM2 and  $\beta$ -catenin was measured through real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), also known as quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR). RT-PCR is a technique that has been used for more than 30 years and it is still considered the most powerful tool for nucleic acid quantification(288).

Before qPCR analysis, the cells of interest were collected and total RNA was extracted and reverse transcribed into cDNA. The sequences of the primers used are reported in Table 1. Differential gene expression was assessed with the  $2^{\Delta\Delta_{Ct}}$ -method using HPRT as a housekeeping gene.

	Primer sequence	
Gene	Forward	Reverse
HPRT	TCCTCCTCAGACCGCTTTT	CCTGGTTCATCATCGCTAATC
TICAM-2	GAAGATCGAAGAGCCTCGTG	GTGATTGAGACGCCTTAGCC
NIK	CTGCAACCTGACGGCCTA	CTCCGTGCCAGGAATGTAGT
β-catenin	GCAGCAGCAGTTTGTGGA	TGTGGAGAGCTCCAGTACACC
A20	TCATCGAATACAGAGAAAAATAAGCAG	AGGCACGGGACATTGTTCT
ABIN-2	GAC GCA CTT CTG GAT CAG GT	CGCTCCGTAAGTCTTTCAACTT
cRel	TTGCAGAGATGGATACTATGAAGC	CACCGAATACCCAAATTTTGAA

Table 1. Oligonucleotide primers used for qPCR

## 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Infectious diseases are the principal cause of death worldwide. The discovery of new infectious pathogens, the reappearance of old ones and their continual acquisition of resistance mechanisms have revealed the need for developing new tools to help win the battle against infectious diseases. This has awakened the interest in researchers to decipher the details involved in host-pathogen interactions with the goal of preventing and treating infections through the development of vaccines and new antibiotics.

The appearance of *Salmonella* strains resistant to a variety of antibiotics including fluoroquinolones has been documented (289). Although the infection has been broadly studied for a long time, and great progress has been achieved in the field, there are still some loose ends. Understanding the complete picture of the mechanisms occurring during the infection will indeed provide tools for the generation of more effective vaccines.

### 4.1 Role of DC in Salmonella infection

Nobody could argue against the importance of DC in infection with any microbe including *Salmonella*. In fact, these cells have been demonstrated to be so important that numerous researchers in the *Salmonella* field have focused their investigations on DC. Studies have attempted to elucidate the details from localization and migration of DC during infection to their interactions with other cells and their death.

In papers I and III we attempted to contribute to the knowledge of the impact of DC during *Salmonella* infection. In paper I we focused in signaling pathways that occur in DC and their influence on activation of adaptive immunity. On the other hand, in paper II we studied the consequences of a diminished population of CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC on the host response to *Salmonella* infection.

#### Paper I

Studies investigating the cooperative influence of CD40 costimulation and MyD88-dependent signaling using TLR ligands, protein antigen and other molecules showed that both the canonical and non-canonical pathways act synergistically in DC and optimize T cell activation (64-66,290). Nevertheless, the importance of synergistic signals in DC–T cell activation during an infection with a live bacterial pathogen where several bacterial ligands activate TLR and other receptors had not yet been investigated. Therefore, the aim of Paper I was to investigate whether cooperation between CD40 and MyD88 in DC influenced the host response against *S. typhimurium* with focus on the T cell response. Mice lacking both CD40 and MyD88 were first generated, CD40<sup>-/-</sup>MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> mice (hereafter referred to as double knockouts, DKO), and CD40<sup>-/-</sup>, MyD88<sup>-/-</sup>, DKO and WT mice were orally infected with *S. typhimurium* and the host response was analyzed.

## MyD88<sup>,/,</sup> and DKO mice are more susceptible to infection with *S. typhimurium*

The first observation was that DKO and MyD88-/- succumbed to the infection, whereas CD40-/- and WT survived. The consequences of MyD88 deficiency in Salmonella infection have been the focus of previous studies. For instance, it has been reported that MyD88-/mice are highly susceptible to infection with S. typhimurium due to defects that involve cytokine production, intestinal barrier integrity and induction of T cell responses, among others (50,216,291,292). Furthermore, DKO and MyD88-/- mice displayed higher bacterial burdens in intestinal tissues as well as in the spleen compared to CD40<sup>-/-</sup> and WT mice. This is supported by studies in which higher Salmonella CFU were reported in MyD88-/- mice compared to WT (291,293). Insufficient phagocyte recruitment could explain the impaired ability of DKO and MyD88-/- to control bacterial replication. However, it had been previously reported that the recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes is not impaired in MyD88-/- mice (216) and no differences in the number of these cells between infected CD40-/-, MyD88-/- and DKO mice were

observed. This indicates that the increased *S. typhimurium* CFU in DKO and MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> mice were not due to altered neutrophil and inflammatory monocyte recruitment to sites of infection. However, although *Salmonella* uptake by macrophages is a MyD88-independent process, MyD88 deficiency in macrophages results in a reduced ability to kill *Salmonella* (294). This suggests that the defective macrophage function in these mice could contribute to the higher CFU observed. This, however, needs to be addressed. Thus, the data so far support that MyD88 deficiency results in increased susceptibility to *S. typhimurium* infection and DKO mice succumbed earlier that MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> mice. However, whether synergistic effects of CD40 and MyD88 in DC were responsible for the augmented susceptibility of DKO mice to bacterial infection was not clear at this point.

## DKO and MyD88<sup>,/.</sup> mice induce a differential cytokine profile and reduced T cell proliferation

The Th1 dominance in the immune response to Salmonella has been known for quiet some time (295). Considering the importance of IFN- $\gamma$  in bacterial clearance (240,265), it was next investigated whether DKO and MyD88-/- mice showed abnormal production of IFN- $\gamma$ . While IFN- $\gamma$  was detectable in serum of CD40<sup>-/-</sup> and WT mice, IL-10 but not IFN-y was present in serum of DKO and MyD88-/- mice. The presence of IL-10 in serum of DKO and MyD88-/- mice could be sign of induction of Tregs (296). Interestingly, it has been shown that blocking the CD40 signaling pathway induces Treg development (297). The data suggest that in the absence of MyD88, IL-10 production by T cells is favored over IFN- $\gamma$  production. This is supported by a study showing that Salmonella-infected mice produce high levels of IL-10 in the absence of Th1 cells (298). In addition, a recent study showed that MyD88 signaling is necessary to instruct CD4+ T cells to differentiate into Th1 cells instead of Tregs (299). The fact that similar results were obtained in the serum of DKO and MyD88-/mice suggests that the abnormal cytokine profile observed in these

mice is likely due to the lack of MyD88 expression rather than cooperative effects of MyD88 and CD40.

The time frame when DKO and MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> mice started to succumb to *S. typhimurium* infection (7-10 days p.i.) raised the possibility that defective activation of adaptive immunity could be involved in the increased susceptibility to infection. However, no differences in the number of DC or T cells were found between CD40<sup>-/-</sup>, MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> and DKO mice at days 6 and 13 p.i. In addition, no differences in the upregulation of CD80 and CD86 in DC from CD40<sup>-/-</sup>, MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> and DKO mice were found. These results support that alterations in DC or T cell numbers, or expression of costimulatory molecules on DCs, in both MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> and DKO mice did not underlie the altered susceptibility to infection.

As discussed in section 1.3, T cells are the main contributors to IFN-y production during later stages of S. typhimurium infection (228). Therefore, the next step was the analysis of DC-induced IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-10 production by antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. This was done using heat-killed S. typhimurium expressing the model antigen OVA (HKS<sub>OVA</sub>). As the goal of the study was to analyze possible cooperative effects of CD40 and MyD88 during the complex but real situation of bacterial infection, the use of HKS<sub>OVA</sub> provided the tool to track a defined "model" antigen in the background of all of the other antigens and components of the bacteria. To analyze whether the complexity of the antigen influences CD40 and MyD88 cooperation, similar experiments were also performed using the purified antigens OVA protein and OVA323-339 peptide for comparison with HKSOVA. In general, no differences in DC ability to induce IFN-y between DKO and MyD88-/- DC were found except for a slight difference when OVA323-339 peptide was used. However, DC capacity to induce IFN- $\gamma$  production as well as OT-II cell proliferation in CD40<sup>-/-</sup> and WT mice was greater than that in DKO and MyD88-/- mice. Nonetheless, the data showed that DC from DKO mice induced lower OT-II proliferation to OVA protein and OVA323-339 peptide, but not HKS<sub>OVA</sub>, compared to DC from MyD88-/- mice. This

suggests a synergy between CD40 and MyD88 on T cell proliferation in DC-T cell co-cultures containing a less complex antigen. Finally, DC from DKO mice pulsed with HKS<sub>OVA</sub>, but not with OVA protein or OVA<sub>323-339</sub> peptide, induced higher production of IL-10 than DC from MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> mice. This differs from the *in vivo* data that showed similar levels of IL-10 in the serum of MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> and DKO mice. This could be due to the fact that *in vivo* data are influenced by numerous cell types that interact and IL-10 production by a specific cell type could be masked by the production by other cells. Indeed, IL-10 has been reported to be produced by cells other than T cells (300).

Collectively, data from the co-culture experiments suggest that CD40 and MyD88 cooperate in some DC-induced T cell effector functions, such as IL-10 production and proliferation, while a cooperative effect on IFN- $\gamma$  production is less apparent. Moreover, the data suggest that cooperativity of CD40 and MyD88 in DCs on ensuing T cell functions is affected by antigen complexity. The data also indicate that responses to a single purified antigen may not be detectable when a complex mix of antigens such as bacteria (HKSovA) is used, as they might be masked in the presence of other antigens and microbial signals (i.e. PAMP). Furthermore, it may be difficult to extrapolate effects observed *in vitro* to *in vivo* responses as an infection involves interaction of many cell types and molecules whereas a co-culture system is very defined.

#### Gene regulation requires MyD88-dependent signaling

DC-T cell interactions activate signaling pathways in both cells that result in the production of cytokines. Thus, the expression of genes associated with the canonical (A20, cRel and  $\beta$ -Catenin) and non-canonical (ABIN-2, NIK and TICAM-2) NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathways in co-cultures of DC pulsed with HKS<sub>OVA</sub> and OT-II T cells were next investigated. DC from CD40<sup>-/-</sup> and WT mice activated expression of these genes in co-cultures and did so to a greater extent than DC from MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> or DKO mice. In addition, no differences in gene expression were found in DC from MyD88<sup>-/-</sup>

compared to DKO mice. This is consistent with the data from the co-culture experiments where T cell responses were not altered when HKS<sub>OVA</sub> was used as the antigen.

Altogether, the findings in Paper I suggest that the defects observed in MyD88-/- and DKO mice, namely poor capacity to control Salmonella infection, lack of IFN-y production and reduced induction of NF-KB-dependent and -independent genes, are due to the MyD88 deficiency rather than a cooperative effect between MyD88 and CD40 per se. However, the in vitro data from co-culture experiments revealed synergistic effects of MyD88 and CD40 in processes that DC induce in T cells, such as proliferation and production of some cytokines. A more precise investigation of the synergistic effects of MyD88 and CD40 in vivo would require mice that lack expression of MyD88 and CD40 only in a specific type of cell. In addition, experiments where other bacteria or virus are used and/or the use of, for example, BALB/c mice, which are biased towards Th2-dominated immune responses (301), could help decipher more synergistic effects of MyD88 and CD40 during microbial infection.

#### Paper III

Since their discovery, many studies have shown that DC constitute a heterogeneous population of cells that differ in location, function, phenotype and transcription factors that drive their ontogeny. In the context of *Salmonella* infection, some progress has been made in deciphering the role of different DC subsets during infection with the use of mouse models that lack a specific subset of DC.

In paper III we studied the impact of the CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC subset in *Salmonella* infection with the use of mice that display a reduced population of these cells (herein designated as Cre<sup>+</sup> mice) and compared them to controls with intact DC populations (Cre<sup>-</sup> mice). It has been reported that under steady-state conditions, Cre<sup>+</sup>

mice have a 50% reduction in splenic CD4<sup>+</sup> DC and siLP CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC. In addition they have a 50% reduction in resident MHC-II<sup>int</sup> CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC and 90% in migratory MHC-II<sup>high</sup> CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC in the MLN (79).

#### CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC and *Salmonella* tissue colonization

First, Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice were orally infected with *S. typhimurium* and the CFU in intestinal organs and spleen were analyzed 3 days p.i. Even with their defective DC compartment, Cre<sup>+</sup> mice had similar CFU in PP, siLP, MLN and spleen to Cre<sup>-</sup> mice. Furthermore, neutrophil and inflammatory monocyte recruitment to these tissues was similar in Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice. As no differences in bacterial burden in PP and siLP were found between Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> animals, the data suggest that initial bacterial penetration is not altered with a reduced population of CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC. Furthermore the similar CFU in spleen suggest an unaltered systemic dissemination of *S. typhimurium* in Cre<sup>+</sup> mice.

Regarding MLN, a previous study using the streptomycin mouse model (153) showed that infected Flt3L-/- mice displayed less bacterial dissemination to MLN (75). Since Flt3L-/- mice lack CD103+CD11b+ DC in the LP, the authors concluded that CD103+CD11b+ DC are the first DC subset to transport S. typhimurium to the MLN after oral infection (75). Therefore, it could be expected that Cre+ mice, which have reduced CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC in the LP and MLN, display a lower bacterial burden in the MLN. This was not observed. However, the Cre+ mice used in paper III were not streptocycin-pretreated as in Bogunovic et al. Furthermore, Bogunovic et al. looked at the different DC subsets containing S. typhimurium 18 and 24 hours p.i. The time point examined in Paper III was 72 hours p.i. and perhaps this was no longer the case. Moreover, they identified bacteria in CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC in the MLN, which could represent bacteria transported from the LP to MLN inside CD103+CD11b+ DC or bacteria that travelled cell-free to the MLN and were taken up by CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC in this tissue. Indeed, ~50% of the Salmonella that reach the MLN of rats travel cell-free from the LP (Yrlid et al.,

unpublished data). Furthermore, our results showing similar CFU in the MLN of Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice are consistent with data obtained using huLangerin-DTA mice, where CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC are ablated using a diphtheria toxin transgene (302). In this paper, a similar bacterial burden in MLN was found in huLangerin-DTA mice and controls 48 hours p.i. (302). However, a caveat is that these data were generated using the streptomycin mouse model (153), which, as discussed previously, may influence bacterial penetration to the MLN (92).

Alterations in the abundance of DC have been reported in *Salmonella*-infected mice using molecules other than CD103 and CD11b to identify subsets (49,303). We therefore proceeded to analyze the DC compartment according to the expression of CD103 and CD11b in Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice infected with *S. typhimurium*. We observed that, similar to that in steady state conditions (79), the MLN of infected Cre<sup>+</sup> displayed a reduced population of CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC at 3 and 6 days p.i. Moreover, DC subsets in the MLN of Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice upregulated CD80 and CD86 to a similar extent.

## Production of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-17 and IL-6 is not impaired in Salmonella-infected Cre $^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$ mice

The role of CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC in priming T cell responses during *Salmonella* infection has not been investigated in depth. It is only known that the ablation of this DC subset in huLangerin-DTA mice does not alter CD44 expression on *Salmonella*-specific T cells (302). To begin to investigate the role of CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC in adaptive immune responses to *S. typhimurium*, changes in the T cell compartment of Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice infected with *S. typhimurium* were investigated at 6 and 13 days p.i. Similar numbers of TCR- $\beta^+$ , CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in PP, siLP and MLN of Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice were found.

It has been reported that CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC are necessary for Th17 differentiation, as Cre<sup>+</sup> mice display less IL-17<sup>+</sup>OT-II cells than Cre<sup>-</sup> mice after administration of the protein antigen OVA

(79). Similar results were obtained by examining PMA+ionomycintreated T cells from the LP of huLangerin-DTA mice (302). That is, a lower frequency of IL-17-producing T cells was found when CD4+ cells T cells from the LP of huLangerin-DTA were stimulated ex vivo with PMA+ionomycin compared to T cells from controls (302). In contrast to these data, we found no difference in the frequency of IL-17-producing CD4+ and CD8+ T cells between Cre+ and Cre- mice infected with S. typhimurium. Furthermore, a similar frequency of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was found in Cre+ and Cre- mice infected with S. typhimurium. This is consistent with data showing similar IFN- $\gamma^+$ CD4+ T cell numbers in siLP of Cre+ and Cre- or huLangerin-DTA mice and controls stimulated with PMA and ionomycin (79,302). Furthermore, Persson et al. found that CD103+CD11b+ DC promote Th17 differentiation in the MLN and, in ex vivo experiments using sorted cells, that CD103+CD11b+ DC are a predominant source of IL-6, which is necessary for Th17 cell differentiation (79). Based on these data, IL-17 and IL-6 were measured in lysates of PP, siLP and MLN of naïve and Salmonella-infected Cre+ and Cre- mice. However, no differences were found in the production of these cytokines in whole organ lysates of Salmonella-infected Cre+ and Cre- mice at days 3 and 6 p.i. These data suggest that IL-6 production by other cells seems to be enough to drive Th17 differentiation during S. typhimurium infection. Altogether, the data suggest that the reduced CD103+CD11b+ DC subset in Cre+ mice does not have a major impact on the induction of effector T cells during Salmonella infection.

## CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC influence the production of serum IgM during *Salmonella* infection

Intestinal DC play a role in production of intestinal IgA (89,304,305). Furthermore, CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> have the capacity to induce the development of IgA<sup>+</sup> cells due to the synthesis of retinoic acid (82). In addition, CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC have been shown to induce OVA-specific IgG in serum (72). As antibodies are induced during *Salmonella* infection (280,306), we measured

Salmonella-specific IgA in feces and IgM and IgG in serum of Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice at days 3, 6 and 13 p.i. Similar low Salmonella-specific IgA was found in the feces of Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice up to day 13 p.i. On the other hand, higher IgM, but not IgG, was detected in the serum of Cre<sup>+</sup> mice compared to Cre<sup>-</sup> mice at day 6 p.i., which was not apparent at day 13 p.i. Salmonella-specific serum IgG was detectable above background only at day 13 p.i. and did not differ between Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice.

Overall, the data in paper III show that the absence of intestinal CD103+CD11b+ DC has little if any effect on Salmonella burden in intestinal tissues and spleen, or mechanisms important in host survival to Salmonella infection such as IFN-y and IL-17 production as well as antibodies. However, it is important to consider the constraints of the mouse model used. For example, reduction of the CD103+CD11b+ DC in Cre+ mice is due to a survival disadvantage of this DC subset (79) rather than targeted ablation as in huLangerin-DTA mice (302). Indeed, the death of CD103+CD11b+ DC in Cre+ mice could be potentiated by the infectious environment, since it has been shown that Salmonella induces death of DC in the MLN of infected mice (307). The Irf4-Cre mouse model may thus not be the optimal to study the role of CD103+CD11b+ DC in Salmonella infection. Instead, other models with a definite knockout of the subset, such as huLangerin-DTA mice or NOTCH2 knockouts, which also display a selective depletion of the CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC subset (34), may be better suited for infection studies. Moreover, to further investigate the role of the intestinal CD103+CD11b+ DC in Salmonella infection, more refined experiments investigating T cell responses could be performed. For instance, the dynamics of T cell subset differentiation in primary and secondary Salmonella infection of Cre<sup>+</sup> mice could be analyzed through the expression of the T cell transcription factors Tbet, Foxp3, GATA-3 and RoryT and different times post infection. In addition, similar experiments as the ones presented here could be performed with mouse models that lack other DC subsets, such as BATF3-/- mice that lack CD103+CD11b- DC (21), and even mice with two DC subsets

knocked out, to be able to define distinct as well as overlapping functions of each intestinal DC subset in *Salmonella* infection.

# 4.2 Role of the intestinal microbiota in *Salmonella* infection

A very important feature of the intestinal microbiota is that it offers the host protection against pathogens. However, as discussed above, the microbiota can also promote infection. Although some studies have reported interactions between *Salmonella* and intestinal commensals at an initial colonization stage, little was known about the effects of the microbiota at later stages of the infection. Thus, the aim of Paper II was to address the influence of the intestinal microbiota one week post *Salmonella* infection.

Paper II

#### Higher bacterial burden in MLN of GF and ABX mice

Germ-free (GF) and conventionally raised (CONV-R) mice were orally infected with S. typhimurium and CFU in different organs 3 and 6 days p.i were analyzed. The results suggested that the initial bacterial penetration and seeding of intestinal as well as systemic tissues (represented by the spleen) were not altered in the absence of the intestinal microbiota. This is supported by data showing that PP, siLP and spleen of GF and CONV-R mice had similar bacterial loads. However, a higher bacterial burden in the MLN of GF mice compared to CONV-R mice was observed at both time points. As discussed before, myeloid cells such as inflammatory monocytes and neutrophils infiltrate PP and MLN early after infection and are crucial for bacterial clearance (308). The recruitment of these cell populations in GF mice was thus assessed. Similar numbers of inflammatory monocytes and neutrophils in GF and CONV-R mice during Salmonella infection were detected, which indicates that the recruitment of these cells is not altered in the absence of the microbiota. However, it has been reported that neutrophils from GF mice are less efficient at killing Streptococcus pneumoniae and

*Staphylococcus aureus* (309) and other studies showed that macrophages of GF mice are less functional than those from CONV-R (310,311). Therefore, whether inflammatory monocytes, macrophages and neutrophils recruited in *Salmonella*-infected GF mice are fully functional remains to be determined. Moreover, as discussed in sections 1.2 and 1.3, antimicrobial peptides play a role in defense against intestinal pathogen colonization (206) and could contribute to the higher CFU in the MLN of GF mice. However, cells that produce these peptides are located mainly in the intestine, which would be predicted to influence CFU in the siLP as well as the MLN. However, no differences in CFU in the siLP of GF and CONV-R mice were found. This suggests that differences in antimicrobial peptides in GF and CONV-R mice are a not major contributor to differences in CFU in the MLN of GF and CONV-R mice.

The intestinal microbiota protects the host against infection by pathogenic microorganisms through the so called "colonization resistance", which involves competition of intestinal pathogens and the microbiota for space and nutrients (140). This phenomenon could explain the higher S. typhimurium burden in MLN of GF mice. To test this hypothesis, an alternate stragety was used to diminish the intestinal microbiota, namely, treating mice with antibiotics (herein called ABX mice) (312). After antibiotic treatment for three days, ABX mice were orally infected with S. typhimurium infection and CFU in intestinal tissues were compared with infected controls. Similar to the results with GF and CONV-R mice, ABX mice displayed a higher bacterial burden in the MLN compared to control mice. The fact that both models with a diminished or absent microbiota displayed higher bacterial burdens in the MLN could suggest that the lack of competition between Salmonella and the microbiota results in a higher degree of colonization in MLN. However, if this was the case, it would be expected to also find higher CFU in siLP as has been reported previously (313,314). This, however, was not the case. Moreover, the colonization resistance phenomenon has been mostly associated with the ability of Salmonella to colonize the colon using the

streptomycin mouse model (155,315). Additional studies have provided data in the context of increased CFU in the MLN of mice with reduced microbiota. For example, based on higher CFU in the MLN of ABX mice or MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> mice infected with non-invasive *Salmonella* compared to infected controls, Diehl et al concluded that the microbiota regulates trafficking of bacteria to the MLN in a MyD88-dependent fashion (91). Consistent with this, antibiotic treatment that diminishes the intestinal microbiota results in increased penetration of commensals through goblet cell-associated antigen passages, allowing increased bacterial access to the MLN (92). This suggests that the higher bacterial burden in the MLN of GF and ABX mice is a consequence of the lack of signals generated from the microbiota that normally prevent bacterial penetration to the MLN.

#### Higher IFN-y production in the MLN of GF and ABX mice

A higher bacterial burden in the MLN of GF and ABX mice compared to controls was detected at 6 days p.i., which is in the time frame of initiation of adaptive immunity. The focus of the study was therefore turned to the T cell response. Characterization of the T cell compartment in the MLN of S. typhimurium-infected GF and CONV-R mice showed that GF mice have fewer  $TCR\beta^+$ , CD4+ and CD8+ T cells compared to CONV-R. This is consistent with data on T cell numbers in GF mice under steady state conditions (134,136). No alterations in T cell numbers were found in the MLN of ABX mice compared to controls. However, both GF and ABX displayed an elevated frequency of IFN-y-producing NK, NKT, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the MLN. To determine whether the increase in IFN-y-producing cells was a consequence of the elevated bacterial burden in the MLN, the number of CFU were plotted against the frequency of IFN-y-producing cells for each individual mouse to determine if a correlation existed. Whereas for ABX mice a positive correlation was observed, no correlation was apparent for GF mice. This indicates that the increase in IFN-γ-producing cells in the MLN of ABX could simply be a consequence of the higher CFU in this tissue. Moreover, it suggests that, in addition to the severity of the infection, other mechanisms influence the production of IFN- $\gamma$  in GF mice. One possibility is IL-12, which stimulates the production of IFN- $\gamma$  (316). We thus measured the concentration of IL-12 in the MLN of infected animals to determine if differences in this cytokine could contribute to the higher frequency of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing cells in the MLN of GF and ABX mice. However, no differences in the level of IL-12p70 were found in MLN lysates of GF and ABX mice compared to their controls at this time point. Overall the data suggest that the absence of the intestinal microbiota in GF mice, or the diminished microbiota in ABX mice, promotes *Salmonella* translocation to MLN inducing inflammation that is reflected in increased IFN- $\gamma$  production.

## IP infection of GF and ABX mice does not result in elevated bacterial burden or IFN- $\gamma$ -producing cells in the MLN

To further confirm the role of the intestinal microbiota in IFN- $\gamma$ production, GF, ABX and their controls were infected IP with S. typhimurium. Salmonella infections via the IP route mimic the systemic phase of the infection, bypassing the penetration of bacteria through intestinal cells and consequently also the effects of the microbiota in the initial phase of the infection. In contrast to the results obtained with an oral infection, no differences in the bacterial burden in the MLN of GF or ABX relative to their respective controls were found. Furthermore, IP-infected GF, ABX and their controls displayed a similar frequency of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing NK, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the MLN. Thus, in contrast to an oral infection route, infecting GF or ABX mice with a non-oral route does not result in increased bacterial burden or IFN-yproducing cells in the MLN. This supports an influence of the intestinal microbiota on penetration of oral pathogens to the MLN and the ensuing inflammatory response.

Altogether, the data in paper II shows that a diminished or absent intestinal microbiota results in a higher bacterial burden in the MLN as well as an increased frequency of IFN- $\gamma$ -producing cells at

day 6 p.i., suggesting a role of the microbiota in the host response to oral *Salmonella* infection. To continue to investigate the role of the intestinal microbiota in immune responses to *Salmonella* infection, the production of other cytokines important in immunity to *Salmonella*, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , could be addressed. Furthermore, memory responses to *Salmonella* infection in the absence of the microbiota have not been examined and constitute an interesting piece of the puzzle of the host-microbiota-*Salmonella* interactions.

### **5 CONCLUSIONS**

#### Paper I

- Synergistic effects of CD40 and MyD88 do not influence host survival to *Salmonella* infection, bacterial burden in intestinal tissues or serum levels of IFN-γ and IL-10 during infection.
- Cooperativity between CD40 and MyD88 in DC on T cell functions such as proliferation and production of IL-10 is observed in co-cultures and is influenced by the complexity of the antigen.

#### Paper II

- The MLN of GF and ABX mice display a higher bacterial burden, likely due to the increased intestinal bacterial translocation to the MLN due to the lack of the microbiota.
- While the higher IFN-γ production in ABX mice seems to be a consequence of the severity of the infection, additional effects of the lack of immune signals provided by the microbiota from birth may influence IFN-γ production in GF mice.

#### Paper III

Reduced CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC in the MLN does not influence Salmonella colonization of intestinal tissues or spleen, or mechanisms important in host survival to Salmonella infection such as IFN-γ production and antibody production.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all I would like to thank everyone in the **Department of Microbiology and Immunology** for contributing to a nice working environment. It has been a pleasure to be surrounded by very nice and helpful people.

Mary Jo Wick, my supervisor. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to do my PhD in your group. Thank you also for the feedback about the projects and help with writing the manuscripts and this thesis. Finally, thank you for the words of hope during difficult research times.

**Ulf Yrlid**, my co-supervisor. Thank you for nice discussions about the projects and for giving me input on the papers and this thesis.

Alex, my lab partner. Thank you for all your guidance in the lab and rescue measures in my experiments. I don't remember a single time that I asked for your help and you weren't available. It's been lots of laughs and interesting discussions, I have learnt a lot from you in these years. Good luck with your studies!

**Pernilla**, from EBM. You have been extremely helpful during this time, thanks for taking such good care of the mice and helping me whenever I have needed you. I would also like to thank **Anders** and **Jenny** for keeping the breeding going and to **Carina** for arranging the mice transfers.

Our colaborators on the papers for this thesis, **Fredrik**, **Sanna**, **Bill** and **Emma**. Thanks for sharing resources and give very important feedback to the projects.

**Sigge**, you are without a doubt the most positive person I've ever met, your good energy is contagious, never lose it! Thank you for very nice talks about life and science and email memes that made me laugh so much. I'm looking forward to drinking wine on your porch when you get old and move to Italy.

Old members of MJW group: Hlin, I'm very happy we ended up being so close, thank you for all those therapeutic fikas and for being such a good friend. José, I never laughed so much as when you were working in the lab, you have an amazing sense of humor! **Maria M**, thank you for the feedback about my projects. **Carro**, I missed you in the lab after you left! **Pia** and **Sara**, thanks for the company in the lab and input during our meetings.

My changos, I don't even want to imagine how this experience would have been without you, I have a lot to thank you for. **Cris**, partners from the beginning till the end, what happens to one must happen to the other. It's almost your turn to finish! I can't believe time has gone so fast. **Quique**, thank you for all the adventures, I couldn't pick one to mention here, there are so many stories. (I still think you're a traitor for moving to Stockholm, though). You guys rock!

The proud members of the friendliest office, thank you for so much fun! It was always nice to pass by the office in the middle of a long day of experiments to hear some gossip, have a laugh and eat some chocolate. **Paulina**, you have always been super helpful not only in the lab but also outside, thanks especially for not letting me become homeless and your help with moving multiple times. **Stefan**, for always being available! Thanks a lot for your help with thesis preparations, computer stuff, scientific questions, personal issues, you name it!

The **SC group** especially **Linda L**, thanks for the nice atmosphere in the lab and for always being willing to help.

To the Latin-Spanish gang Elena, Nacho, Jairo, Pam, Xandre and Pablo for movies, parties, lunches, trips and very polemic discussions. Special mention to Elisa, my gym partner and shopping companion, because you're insanely crazy and let me share my craziness with you. Thank you also to the old members of the gang, Ana, Jose, and Sofía, I remember you guys with a big smile.

My childhood friends, those special persons that have known me and loved me forever. **Jandris** and **Josie**, I'm grateful that time and distance have not interfered with our special McTrio friendship, you have played a major role during my time as a PhD student even from the other side of the world with our never-ending whatsapp conversations, invaluable photos and laughs. And of course **Lorena**, I don't think there's anyone in this world with whom I have more in common, you always understand me and I'm very thankful for that. Cheers for many more years of friendship!

Mis papás, **Guillermo** y **Marcela**. Este libro está totalmente dedicado a ustedes porque me han enseñado que nada cae del cielo, hay que esforzarse para alcanzarlo. Así es como he llegado hasta aquí, pero el esfuerzo no fue solo mío, fue de ustedes también y se los agradezco muchísimo. Un reconocimiento especial a mi tío **Jorge** por siempre estar al pendiente de mí.

**Mattias**, because no matter how dark it gets you are always there and manage to make me smile. Thank you for taking such good care of me especially while I was writing this thesis. I'm very happy that I could share this experience with you, I love you!

The work in this thesis was funded by the Swedish Research Council (621-2110-5238), the Juhlins Foundation, the Lundgrens foundation and the Goljes Foundation.

### REFERENCES

- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:685–711.
- Gi M, Im W, Hong S. Dendritic cells as danger-recognizing biosensors. Sensors (Basel) (2009) 9:6730–6751.
- 3. Lewis KL, Reizis B. Dendritic cells: arbiters of immunity and immunological tolerance. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2012) **4**:a007401.
- Kelsall BL, Leon F. Involvement of intestinal dendritic cells in oral tolerance, immunity to pathogens, and inflammatory bowel disease. *Immunol Rev* (2005) 206:132–148.
- Liu K, Nussenzweig MC. Development and homeostasis of dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40:2099–2102.
- Steinman RM, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. J Exp Med (1973) 137:1142–1162.
- Merad M, Ginhoux F. Dendritic cell genealogy: a new stem or just another branch? Nat Immunol (2007) 8:1199–1201.
- Liu K, Nussenzweig MC. Origin and development of dendritic cells. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 234:45–54.
- Hume DA. Immunohistochemical analysis of murine mononuclear phagocytes that express class II major histocompatibility antigens. *Immunobiology* (1985) 170:381–389.
- 10. Harding CV, Geuze HJ. Class II MHC molecules are present in macrophage lysosomes and phagolysosomes that function in the phagocytic processing of *Listeria monocytogenes* for presentation to T cells. *J Cell Biol* (1992) **119**:531–542.
- Tamoutounour S, Henri S, Lelouard H, de Bovis B, de Haar C, van der Woude CJ, Woltman AM, Reyal Y, Bonnet D, Sichien D, et al. CD64 distinguishes macrophages from dendritic cells in the gut and reveals the Th1-inducing role of mesenteric lymph node macrophages during colitis. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42:1-17.
- Scott CL, Bain CC, Wright PB, Sichien D, Kotarsky K, Persson EK, Luda K, Guilliams M, Lambrecht BN, Agace WW, et al. CCR2<sup>+</sup>CD103<sup>-</sup> intestinal dendritic cells develop from DC-committed precursors and induce interleukin-17 production by T cells. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 8:327-339.
- Schulz O, Jaensson E, Persson EK, Liu X, Worbs T, Agace WW, Pabst O. Intestinal CD103<sup>+</sup>, but not CX<sub>3</sub>CR1<sup>+</sup>, antigen sampling cells migrate in lymph and serve classical dendritic cell functions. *J Exp Med* (2009) **206**:3101–3114.
- Bain CC, Scott CL, Uronen-Hansson H, Gudjonsson S, Jansson O, Grip O, Guilliams M, Malissen B, Agace WW, Mowat AM. Resident and pro-inflammatory macrophages in the colon represent alternative context-dependent fates of the same Ly6C<sup>hi</sup> monocyte precursors. *Mucosal Immunol* (2013) 6:498–510.
- 15. Guilliams M, Ginhoux F, Jakubzick C, Naik SH, Onai N, Schraml BU, Segura E, Tussiwand R, Yona S. Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified

nomenclature based on ontogeny. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14:571-578.

- Reizis B, Bunin A, Ghosh HS, Lewis KL, Sisirak V. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: recent progress and open questions. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:163–183.
- 17. Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) **31**:563–604.
- Satpathy AT, Wu X, Albring JC, Murphy KM. Re(de)fining the dendritic cell lineage. Nat Immunol (2012) 13:1145–1154.
- Mildner A, Jung S. Development and function of dendritic cell subsets. *Immunity* (2014) 40:642–656.
- Vremec D, Zorbas M, Scollay R, Saunders DJ, Ardavin CF, Wu L, Shortman K. The surface phenotype of dendritic cells purified from mouse thymus and spleen: investigation of the CD8 expression by a subpopulation of dendritic cells. J Exp Med (1992) 176:47–58.
- Edelson BT, Kc W, Juang R, Kohyama M, Benoit LA, Klekotka PA, Moon C, Albring JC, Ise W, Michael DG, et al. Peripheral CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells form a unified subset developmentally related to CD8α<sup>+</sup> conventional dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:823–836.
- Hildner K, Edelson BT, Purtha WE, Diamond M, Matsushita H, Kohyama M, Calderon B, Schraml BU, Unanue ER, Diamond MS, et al. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8α<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. *Science* (2008) 322:1097–1100.
- Ginhoux F, Liu K, Helft J, Bogunovic M, Greter M, Hashimoto D, Price J, Yin N, Bromberg J, Lira SA, et al. The origin and development of nonlymphoid tissue CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs. J Exp Med (2009) 206:3115–3130.
- Jackson JT, Hu Y, Liu R, Masson F, D'Amico A, Carotta S, Xin A, Camilleri MJ, Mount AM, Kallies A, et al. Id2 expression delineates differential checkpoints in the genetic program of CD8α<sup>+</sup> and CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cell lineages. *EMBO J* (2011) 30:2690–2704.
- Kashiwada M, Pham N-LL, Pewe LL, Harty JT, Rothman PB. NFIL3/E4BP4 is a key transcription factor for CD8α<sup>+</sup> dendritic cell development. *Blood* (2011) 117:6193–6197.
- Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12:557–569.
- Maldonado-López R, De Smedt T, Michel P, Godfroid J, Pajak B, Heirman C, Thielemans K, Leo O, Urbain J, Moser M. CD8α<sup>+</sup> and CD8α<sup>-</sup> subclasses of dendritic cells direct the development of distinct T helper cells in vivo. J Exp Med (1999) 189:587–592.
- Martínez-López M, Iborra S, Conde-Garrosa R, Sancho D. Batf3-dependent CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells are major producers of IL-12 that drive local Th1 immunity against *Leishmania* major infection in mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45:119– 129.
- 29. Gurka S, Hartung E, Becker M, Kroczek RA. Mouse conventional dendritic cells

can be universally classified based on the mutually exclusive expression of XCR1 and SIRPα. *Front Immunol* (2015) **6**:35.

- Bekiaris V, Persson EK, Agace WW. Intestinal dendritic cells in the regulation of mucosal immunity. *Immunol Rev* (2014) 260:86–101.
- Kobayashi T, Walsh PT, Walsh MC, Speirs KM, Chiffoleau E, King CG, Hancock WW, Caamano JH, Hunter CA, Scott P, et al. TRAF6 is a critical factor for dendritic cell maturation and development. *Immunity* (2003) 19:353–363.
- 32. Dudziak D, Kamphorst AO, Heidkamp GF, Buchholz VR, Trumpfheller C, Yamazaki S, Cheong C, Liu K, Lee H-W, Park CG, et al. Differential antigen processing by dendritic cell subsets in vivo. *Science* (2007) **315**:107–111.
- Kamphorst AO, Guermonprez P, Dudziak D, Nussenzweig MC. Route of antigen uptake differentially impacts presentation by dendritic cells and activated monocytes. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:3426–3435.
- Lewis KL, Caton ML, Bogunovic M, Greter M, Grajkowska LT, Ng D, Klinakis A, Charo IF, Jung S, Gommerman JL, et al. Notch2 receptor signaling controls functional differentiation of dendritic cells in the spleen and intestine. *Immunity* (2011) 35:780–791.
- Kawasaki T, Kawai T. Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. Front Immunol (2014) 5:461.
- 36. Leulier F, Lemaitre B. Toll-like receptors--taking an evolutionary approach. *Nat Rev Genet* (2008) **9**:165–178.
- Bell JK, Mullen GED, Leifer CA, Mazzoni A, Davies DR, Segal DM. Leucine-rich repeats and pathogen recognition in Toll-like receptors. *Trends Immunol* (2003) 24:528–533.
- O'Neill LAJ, Bowie AG. The family of five: TIR-domain-containing adaptors in Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:353–364.
- Kumar H, Kawai T, Akira S. Pathogen recognition in the innate immune response. Biochem J (2009) 420:1–16.
- 40. Takeda K, Akira S. TLR signaling pathways. Semin Immunol (2004) 16:3-9.
- Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Uematsu S, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Takeuchi O, Takeda K, Akira S. TRAM is specifically involved in the Toll-like receptor 4mediated MyD88-independent signaling pathway. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:1144– 1150.
- Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell* (2006) 124:783–801.
- 43. Reis e Sousa C. Toll-like receptors and dendritic cells: for whom the bug tolls. Semin Immunol (2004) 16:27–34.
- 44. West MA, Wallin RPA, Matthews SP, Svensson HG, Zaru R, Ljunggren H-G, Prescott AR, Watts C. Enhanced dendritic cell antigen capture via toll-like receptor-induced actin remodeling. *Science* (2004) **305**:1153–1157.
- Trombetta ES, Ebersold M, Garrett W, Pypaert M, Mellman I. Activation of lysosomal function during dendritic cell maturation. *Science* (2003) 299:1400–1403.

- Harris NL, Ronchese F. The role of B7 costimulation in T-cell immunity. *Immunol Cell Biol* (1999) 77:304–311.
- 47. Reis e Sousa C. Dendritic cells in a mature age. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6:476-483.
- Kapsenberg ML. Dendritic-cell control of pathogen-driven T-cell polarization. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3:984–993.
- Sundquist M, Wick MJ. TNF-α-dependent and -independent maturation of dendritic cells and recruited CD11e<sup>int</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> Cells during oral *Salmonella* infection. *J Immunol* (2005) **175**:3287–3298.
- Tam MA, Sundquist M, Wick MJ. MyD88 and IFN-αβ differentially control maturation of bystander but not *Salmonella*-associated dendritic cells or CD11c<sup>int</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells during infection. *Cell Microbiol* (2008) **10**:1517–1529.
- Joffre O, Nolte MA, Spörri R, Reis e Sousa C. Inflammatory signals in dendritic cell activation and the induction of adaptive immunity. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 227:234–247.
- Spörri R, Reis e Sousa C. Inflammatory mediators are insufficient for full dendritic cell activation and promote expansion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell populations lacking helper function. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:163–170.
- Förster R, Schubel A, Breitfeld D, Kremmer E, Renner-Müller I, Wolf E, Lipp M. CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. *Cell* (1999) 99:23–33.
- Randolph GJ, Angeli V, Swartz MA. Dendritic-cell trafficking to lymph nodes through lymphatic vessels. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2005) 5:617–628.
- Randolph GJ, Sanchez-Schmitz G, Angeli V. Factors and signals that govern the migration of dendritic cells via lymphatics: recent advances. *Springer Semin Immunopathol* (2005) 26:273–287.
- 56. Moynagh PN. The NF-κB pathway. J Cell Sci (2005) 118:4589–4592.
- 57. Sun S-C. Non-canonical NF-κB signaling pathway. Cell Res (2011) 21:71-85.
- 58. Vallabhapurapu S, Karin M. Regulation and function of NF-κB transcription factors in the immune system. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2009) **27**:693–733.
- 59. Hoesel B, Schmid JA. The complexity of NF-κB signaling in inflammation and cancer. *Mol Cancer* (2013) **12**:86.
- Jin J, Hu H, Li HS, Yu J, Xiao Y, Brittain GC, Zou Q, Cheng X, Mallette FA, Watowich SS, et al. Noncanonical NF-κB pathway controls the production of type I interferons in antiviral innate immunity. *Immunity* (2014) 40:342–354.
- Elgueta R, Benson MJ, de Vries VC, Wasiuk A, Guo Y, Noelle RJ. Molecular mechanism and function of CD40/CD40L engagement in the immune system. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 229:152–172.
- 62. Hostager BS, Bishop GA. CD40-Mediated Activation of the NF-κB2 Pathway. *Front Immunol* (2013) **4**:376.
- Lind EF, Ahonen CL, Wasiuk A, Kosaka Y, Becher B, Bennett KA, Noelle RJ. Dendritic cells require the NF-κB2 pathway for cross-presentation of soluble

antigens. J Immunol (2008) 181:354-363.

- Edwards AD, Manickasingham SP, Spörri R, Diebold SS, Schulz O, Sher A, Kaisho T, Akira S, Reis e Sousa C. Microbial recognition via Toll-like receptordependent and -independent pathways determines the cytokine response of murine dendritic cell subsets to CD40 triggering. *J Immunol* (2002) 169:3652–3660.
- Schulz O, Edwards AD, Schito M, Aliberti J, Manickasingham S, Sher A, Reis e Sousa C. CD40 triggering of heterodimeric IL-12 p70 production by dendritic cells in vivo requires a microbial priming signal. *Immunity* (2000) 13:453–462.
- Fujii S-I, Liu K, Smith C, Bonito AJ, Steinman RM. The linkage of innate to adaptive immunity via maturing dendritic cells in vivo requires CD40 ligation in addition to antigen presentation and CD80/86 costimulation. J Exp Med (2004) 199:1607–1618.
- 67. Mowat AM. Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) **3**:331–341.
- Coombes JL, Powrie F. Dendritic cells in intestinal immune regulation. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8:435–446.
- Persson EK, Scott CL, Mowat AM, Agace WW. Dendritic cell subsets in the intestinal lamina propria: ontogeny and function. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43:3098– 3107.
- Coombes JL, Siddiqui KRR, Arancibia-Cárcamo CV, Hall J, Sun C-M, Belkaid Y, Powrie F. A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs induces Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells via a TGF-β and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism. J Exp Med (2007) 204:1757–1764.
- Sun C-M, Hall JA, Blank RB, Bouladoux N, Oukka M, Mora JR, Belkaid Y. Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 Treg cells via retinoic acid. J Exp Med (2007) 204:1775–1785.
- 72. Fujimoto K, Karuppuchamy T, Takemura N, Shimohigoshi M, Machida T, Haseda Y, Aoshi T, Ishii KJ, Akira S, Uematsu S. A new subset of CD103<sup>+</sup>CD8α<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells in the small intestine expresses TLR3, TLR7, and TLR9 and induces Th1 response and CTL activity. *J Immunol* (2011) **186**:6287–6295.
- Johansson-Lindbom B, Svensson M, Pabst O, Palmqvist C, Marquez G, Förster R, Agace WW. Functional specialization of gut CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells in the regulation of tissue-selective T cell homing. J Exp Med (2005) 202:1063–1073.
- 74. Jaensson E, Uronen-Hansson H, Pabst O, Eksteen B, Tian J, Coombes JL, Berg P-L, Davidsson T, Powrie F, Johansson-Lindbom B, et al. Small intestinal CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells display unique functional properties that are conserved between mice and humans. J Exp Med (2008) 205:2139–2149.
- 75. Bogunovic M, Ginhoux F, Helft J, Shang L, Hashimoto D, Greter M, Liu K, Jakubzick C, Ingersoll MA, Leboeuf M, et al. Origin of the lamina propria dendritic cell network. *Immunity* (2009) **31**:513–525.
- 76. Denning TL, Norris BA, Medina-Contreras O, Manicassamy S, Geem D, Madan R, Karp CL, Pulendran B. Functional specializations of intestinal dendritic cell and macrophage subsets that control Th17 and regulatory T cell responses are

dependent on the T cell/APC ratio, source of mouse strain, and regional localization. *J Immunol* (2011) **187**:733–747.

- Cerovic V, Houston SA, Scott CL, Aumeunier A, Yrlid U, Mowat AM, Milling SWF. Intestinal CD103<sup>-</sup> dendritic cells migrate in lymph and prime effector T cells. *Mucosal Immunol* (2013) 6:104–113.
- Muzaki ARBM, Tetlak P, Sheng J, Loh SC, Setiagani YA, Poidinger M, Zolezzi F, Karjalainen K, Ruedl C. Intestinal CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> dendritic cells restrain colitis via IFN-γ-induced anti-inflammatory response in epithelial cells. *Mucosal Immunol* (2015). doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.64
- Persson EK, Uronen-Hansson H, Semmrich M, Rivollier A, Hägerbrand K, Marsal J, Gudjonsson S, Håkansson U, Reizis B, Kotarsky K, et al. IRF4 transcription-factor-dependent CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells drive mucosal T helper 17 cell differentiation. *Immunity* (2013) 38:958–969.
- Kinnebrew MA, Buffie CG, Diehl GE, Zenewicz LA, Leiner I, Hohl TM, Flavell RA, Littman DR, Pamer EG. Interleukin 23 production by intestinal CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells in response to bacterial flagellin enhances mucosal innate immune defense. *Immunity* (2012) 36:276–287.
- Satpathy AT, Briseño CG, Lee JS, Ng D, Manieri NA, Kc W, Wu X, Thomas SR, Lee W-L, Turkoz M, et al. Notch2-dependent classical dendritic cells orchestrate intestinal immunity to attaching-and-effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:937–948.
- Uematsu S, Fujimoto K, Jang MH, Yang B-G, Jung Y-J, Nishiyama M, Sato S, Tsujimura T, Yamamoto M, Yokota Y, et al. Regulation of humoral and cellular gut immunity by lamina propria dendritic cells expressing Toll-like receptor 5. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9:769–776.
- Atif SM, Uematsu S, Akira S, McSorley SJ. CD103<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells regulate the sensitivity of CD4 T-cell responses to bacterial flagellin. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7:68–77.
- Jang MH, Sougawa N, Tanaka T, Hirata T, Hiroi T, Tohya K, Guo Z, Umemoto E, Ebisuno Y, Yang B-G, et al. CCR7 is critically important for migration of dendritic cells in intestinal lamina propria to mesenteric lymph nodes. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:803–810.
- 85. Milling S, Yrlid U, Cerovic V, MacPherson G. Subsets of migrating intestinal dendritic cells. *Immunol Rev* (2010) **234**:259–267.
- Worbs T, Bode U, Yan S, Hoffmann MW, Hintzen G, Bernhardt G, Förster R, Pabst O. Oral tolerance originates in the intestinal immune system and relies on antigen carriage by dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2006) 203:519–527.
- Wilson NS, Young LJ, Kupresanin F, Naik SH, Vremec D, Heath WR, Akira S, Shortman K, Boyle J, Maraskovsky E, et al. Normal proportion and expression of maturation markers in migratory dendritic cells in the absence of germs or Tolllike receptor signaling. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2008) 86:200–205.
- Pugh CW, MacPherson GG, Steer HW. Characterization of nonlymphoid cells derived from rat peripheral lymph. J Exp Med (1983) 157:1758–1779.

- Macpherson AJ. Induction of protective IgA by intestinal dendritic cells carrying commensal bacteria. *Science* (2004) **303**:1662–1665.
- Yrlid U, Milling SWF, Miller JL, Cartland S, Jenkins CD, MacPherson GG. Regulation of intestinal dendritic cell migration and activation by plasmacytoid dendritic cells, TNF-α and type 1 IFNs after feeding a TLR7/8 ligand. J Immunol (2006) 176:5205–5212.
- Diehl GE, Longman RS, Zhang J-X, Breart B, Galan C, Cuesta A, Schwab SR, Littman DR. Microbiota restricts trafficking of bacteria to mesenteric lymph nodes by CX<sub>3</sub>CR1<sup>hi</sup> cells. *Nature* (2013) **494**:116-120.
- Knoop KA, McDonald KG, Kulkarni DH, Newberry RD. Antibiotics promote inflammation through the translocation of native commensal colonic bacteria. *Gut* (2015). doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2014-309059.
- Belkaid Y, Hand TW. Role of the microbiota in immunity and inflammation. *Cell* (2014) 157:121–141.
- Blaser MJ. Who are we? Indigenous microbes and the ecology of human diseases. EMBO Rep (2006) 7:956–960.
- 95. Berg RD. The indigenous gastrointestinal microflora. *Trends Microbiol* (1996) 4:430-435.
- Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, Nielsen T, Pons N, Levenez F, Yamada T, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature* (2010) 464:59–65.
- 97. Sekirov I, Russell SL, Antunes LCM, Finlay BB. Gut microbiota in health and disease. *Physiol Rev* (2010) **90**:859–904.
- Eckburg PB, Bik EM, Bernstein CN, Purdom E, Dethlefsen L, Sargent M, Gill SR, Nelson KE, Relman DA. Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. *Science* (2005) **308**:1635–1638.
- Ley RE, Peterson DA, Gordon JI. Ecological and evolutionary forces shaping microbial diversity in the human intestine. *Cell* (2006) 124:837–848.
- Rodríguez JM, Murphy K, Stanton C, Ross RP, Kober OI, Juge N, Avershina E, Rudi K, Narbad A, Jenmalm MC, et al. The composition of the gut microbiota throughout life, with an emphasis on early life. *Microb Ecol Health Dis* (2015) 26:26050.
- Graf D, Di Cagno R, Fåk F, Flint HJ, Nyman M, Saarela M, Watzl B. Contribution of diet to the composition of the human gut microbiota. *Microb Ecol Health Dis* (2015) 26:26164.
- 102. Slack E, Hapfelmeier S, Stecher B, Velykoredko Y, Stoel M, Lawson MAE, Geuking MB, Beutler B, Tedder TF, Hardt W-D, et al. Innate and adaptive immunity cooperate flexibly to maintain host-microbiota mutualism. *Science* (2009) 325:617–620.
- 103. Macpherson AJ, Slack E, Geuking MB, McCoy KD. The mucosal firewalls against commensal intestinal microbes. *Semin Immunopathol* (2009) **31**:145–149.
- 104. Hapfelmeier S, Macpherson AJ. In remembrance of commensal intestinal microbes. *Commun Integr Biol* (2010) **3**:569–571.

- 105. Slack E, Balmer ML, Fritz JH, Hapfelmeier S. Functional flexibility of intestinal IgA broadening the fine line. *Front Immunol* (2012) **3**:100.
- 106. Balmer ML, Slack E, de Gottardi A, Lawson MAE, Hapfelmeier S, Miele L, Grieco A, Van Vlierberghe H, Fahrner R, Patuto N, et al. The liver may act as a firewall mediating mutualism between the host and its gut commensal microbiota. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:237ra66.
- Kamada N, Núñez G. Regulation of the immune system by the resident intestinal bacteria. *Gastroenterology* (2014) **146**:1477–1488.
- 108. Cebula A, Seweryn M, Rempala GA, Pabla SS, McIndoe RA, Denning TL, Bry L, Kraj P, Kisielow P, Ignatowicz L. Thymus-derived regulatory T cells contribute to tolerance to commensal microbiota. *Nature* (2013) **497**:258–262.
- 109. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Shima T, Imaoka A, Kuwahara T, Momose Y, Cheng G, Yamasaki S, Saito T, Ohba Y, et al. Induction of colonic regulatory T cells by indigenous *Clostridium* species. *Science* (2011) **331**:337–341.
- Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Oshima K, Suda W, Nagano Y, Nishikawa H, Fukuda S, Saito T, Narushima S, Hase K, et al. Treg induction by a rationally selected mixture of *Clostridia* strains from the human microbiota. *Nature* (2013) 500:232– 236.
- Round JL, Mazmanian SK. Inducible Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T-cell development by a commensal bacterium of the intestinal microbiota. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2010) 107:12204–12209.
- 112. Smith PM, Howitt MR, Panikov N, Michaud M, Gallini CA, Bohlooly-Y M, Glickman JN, Garrett WS. The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. *Science* (2013) **341**:569–573.
- 113. Ostman S, Rask C, Wold AE, Hultkrantz S, Telemo E. Impaired regulatory T cell function in germ-free mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) **36**:2336–2346.
- 114. Geuking MB, Cahenzli J, Lawson MAE, Ng DCK, Slack E, Hapfelmeier S, McCoy KD, Macpherson AJ. Intestinal bacterial colonization induces mutualistic regulatory T cell responses. *Immunity* (2011) 34:794–806.
- 115. Bäckhed F, Ding H, Wang T, Hooper LV, Koh GY, Nagy A, Semenkovich CF, Gordon JI. The gut microbiota as an environmental factor that regulates fat storage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2004) **101**:15718–15723.
- 116. Sayin SI, Wahlström A, Felin J, Jäntti S, Marschall H-U, Bamberg K, Angelin B, Hyötyläinen T, Orešič M, Bäckhed F. Gut microbiota regulates bile acid metabolism by reducing the levels of tauro-beta-muricholic acid, a naturally occurring FXR antagonist. *Cell Metab* (2013) 17:225–235.
- Villanueva-Millán MJ, Pérez-Matute P, Oteo JA. Gut microbiota: a key player in health and disease. A review focused on obesity. J Physiol Biochem (2015) 71:509– 525.
- 118. Sommer F, Bäckhed F. The gut microbiota--masters of host development and physiology. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2013) **11**:227–238.
- 119. Eberl G, Lochner M. The development of intestinal lymphoid tissues at the interface of self and microbiota. *Mucosal Immunol* (2009) **2**:478–485.

- 120. Atarashi K, Nishimura J, Shima T, Umesaki Y, Yamamoto M, Onoue M, Yagita H, Ishii N, Evans R, Honda K, et al. ATP drives lamina propria Th17 cell differentiation. *Nature* (2008) 455:808–812.
- 121. Ivanov II, Atarashi K, Manel N, Brodie EL, Shima T, Karaoz U, Wei D, Goldfarb KC, Santee CA, Lynch SV, et al. Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous bacteria. *Cell* (2009) **139**:485–498.
- 122. Wesemann DR, Portuguese AJ, Meyers RM, Gallagher MP, Cluff-Jones K, Magee JM, Panchakshari RA, Rodig SJ, Kepler TB, Alt FW. Microbial colonization influences early B-lineage development in the gut lamina propria. *Nature* (2013) 501:112–115.
- 123. Fagarasan S, Kawamoto S, Kanagawa O, Suzuki K. Adaptive immune regulation in the gut: T cell-dependent and T cell-independent IgA synthesis. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2010) 28:243–273.
- 124. Balmer ML, Schürch CM, Saito Y, Geuking MB, Li H, Cuenca M, Kovtonyuk LV, McCoy KD, Hapfelmeier S, Ochsenbein AF, et al. Microbiota-derived compounds drive steady-state granulopoiesis via MyD88/TICAM signaling. *J Immunol* (2014) 193:5273–5283.
- 125. Umesaki Y, Setoyama H, Matsumoto S, Okada Y. Expansion of alpha beta T-cell receptor-bearing intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes after microbial colonization in germ-free mice and its independence from thymus. *Immunology* (1993) **79**:32–37.
- Kamada N, Núñez G. Role of the gut microbiota in the development and function of lymphoid cells. J Immunol (2013) 190:1389–1395.
- 127. Musso G, Gambino R, Cassader M. Obesity, diabetes, and gut microbiota: the hygiene hypothesis expanded? *Diabetes Care* (2010) **33**:2277–2284.
- 128. Tremaroli V, Bäckhed F. Functional interactions between the gut microbiota and host metabolism. *Nature* (2012) **489**:242–249.
- 129. Zhang X, Shen D, Fang Z, Jie Z, Qiu X, Zhang C, Chen Y, Ji L. Human gut microbiota changes reveal the progression of glucose intolerance. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e71108.
- Everard A, Cani PD. Diabetes, obesity and gut microbiota. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol (2013) 27:73–83.
- Hur KY, Lee M-S. Gut Microbiota and Metabolic Disorders. *Diabetes Metab J* (2015) 39:198–203.
- 132. Wang Z, Klipfell E, Bennett BJ, Koeth R, Levison BS, Dugar B, Feldstein AE, Britt EB, Fu X, Chung Y-M, et al. Gut flora metabolism of phosphatidylcholine promotes cardiovascular disease. *Nature* (2011) **472**:57–63.
- 133. Howitt MR, Garrett WS. A complex microworld in the gut: gut microbiota and cardiovascular disease connectivity. *Nat Med* (2012) **18**:1188–1189.
- 134. Cash HL, Hooper LV. Commensal Bacteria Shape Intestinal Immune System Development. ASM News (2005) **71**:77–83.
- West CE. Gut microbiota and allergic disease: new findings. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care (2014) 17:261–266.

- 136. Round JL, Mazmanian SK. The gut microbiota shapes intestinal immune responses during health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) **9**:313–323.
- 137. Littman DR, Pamer EG. Role of the commensal microbiota in normal and pathogenic host immune responses. *Cell Host Microbe* (2011) **10**:311–323.
- 138. Bohnhoff M, Miller CP, Martin WR. Resistance of the mouse's intestinal tract to experimental *Salmonella* infection. I. Factors which interfere with the initiation of infection by oral inoculation. J Exp Med (1964) **120**:805–816.
- Bohnhoff M, Miller CP, Martin WR. Resistance of the mouse's intestinal tract to experimental *Salmonella* infection. II. Factors responsible for its loss following streptomycin treatment. J Exp Med (1964) 120:817–828.
- Lawley TD, Walker AW. Intestinal colonization resistance. *Immunology* (2013) 138:1–11.
- 141. Maslowski KM, Vieira AT, Ng A, Kranich J, Sierro F, Yu D, Schilter HC, Rolph MS, Mackay F, Artis D, et al. Regulation of inflammatory responses by gut microbiota and chemoattractant receptor GPR43. *Nature* (2009) 461:1282–1286.
- 142. Fukuda S, Toh H, Hase K, Oshima K, Nakanishi Y, Yoshimura K, Tobe T, Clarke JM, Topping DL, Suzuki T, et al. Bifidobacteria can protect from enteropathogenic infection through production of acetate. *Nature* (2011) 469:543–547.
- Natividad JMM, Verdu EF. Modulation of intestinal barrier by intestinal microbiota: pathological and therapeutic implications. *Pharmacol Res* (2013) 69:42– 51.
- 144. Hayes KS, Bancroft AJ, Goldrick M, Portsmouth C, Roberts IS, Grencis RK. Exploitation of the intestinal microflora by the parasitic nematode *Trichuris muris*. *Science* (2010) **328**:1391–1394.
- 145. Kuss SK, Best GT, Etheredge CA, Pruijssers AJ, Frierson JM, Hooper LV, Dermody TS, Pfeiffer JK. Intestinal microbiota promote enteric virus replication and systemic pathogenesis. *Science* (2011) **334**:249–252.
- 146. Kane M, Case LK, Kopaskie K, Kozlova A, MacDearmid C, Chervonsky AV, Golovkina TV. Successful transmission of a retrovirus depends on the commensal microbiota. *Science* (2011) 334:245–249.
- 147. Ng KM, Ferreyra JA, Higginbottom SK, Lynch JB, Kashyap PC, Gopinath S, Naidu N, Choudhury B, Weimer BC, Monack DM, et al. Microbiota-liberated host sugars facilitate post-antibiotic expansion of enteric pathogens. *Nature* (2013) 502:96–99.
- 148. Lupp C, Robertson ML, Wickham ME, Sekirov I, Champion OL, Gaynor EC, Finlay BB. Host-mediated inflammation disrupts the intestinal microbiota and promotes the overgrowth of Enterobacteriaceae. *Cell Host Microbe* (2007) 2:119– 129.
- 149. Stecher B, Chaffron S, Käppeli R, Hapfelmeier S, Freedrich S, Weber TC, Kirundi J, Suar M, McCoy KD, Mering von C, et al. Like will to like: abundances of closely related species can predict susceptibility to intestinal colonization by pathogenic and commensal bacteria. *PLoS Pathog* (2010) **6**:e1000711.
- 150. Heimesaat MM, Bereswill S, Fischer A, Fuchs D, Struck D, Niebergall J, Jahn H-K, Dunay IR, Moter A, Gescher DM, et al. Gram-negative bacteria aggravate murine small intestinal Th1-type immunopathology following oral infection with *Toxoplasma gondii*. J Immunol (2006) **177**:8785–8795.
- 151. Raetz M, Hwang S-H, Wilhelm CL, Kirkland D, Benson A, Sturge CR, Mirpuri J, Vaishnava S, Hou B, DeFranco AL, et al. Parasite-induced Th1 cells and intestinal dysbiosis cooperate in IFN-γ-dependent elimination of Paneth cells. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:136–142.
- 152. Reynolds LA, Smith KA, Filbey KJ, Harcus Y, Hewitson JP, Redpath SA, Valdez Y, Yebra MJ, Finlay BB, Maizels RM. Commensal-pathogen interactions in the intestinal tract: lactobacilli promote infection with, and are promoted by, helminth parasites. *Gut Microbes* (2014) 5:522–532.
- 153. Barthel M, Hapfelmeier S, Quintanilla-Martínez L, Kremer M, Rohde M, Hogardt M, Pfeffer K, Rüssmann H, Hardt W-D. Pretreatment of mice with streptomycin provides a *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium colitis model that allows analysis of both pathogen and host. *Infect Immun* (2003) 71:2839–2858.
- 154. Kaiser P, Diard M, Stecher B, Hardt W-D. The streptomycin mouse model for Salmonella diarrhea: functional analysis of the microbiota, the pathogen's virulence factors, and the host's mucosal immune response. Immunol Rev (2012) 245:56–83.
- 155. Stecher B, Robbiani R, Walker AW, Westendorf AM, Barthel M, Kremer M, Chaffron S, Macpherson AJ, Buer J, Parkhill J, et al. *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhimurium exploits inflammation to compete with the intestinal microbiota. *PLoS Biol* (2007) **5**:2177–2189.
- 156. Winter SE, Thiennimitr P, Winter MG, Butler BP, Huseby DL, Crawford RW, Russell JM, Bevins CL, Adams LG, Tsolis RM, et al. Gut inflammation provides a respiratory electron acceptor for *Salmonella*. *Nature* (2010) 467:426–429.
- 157. Liu JZ, Jellbauer S, Poe AJ, Ton V, Pesciaroli M, Kehl-Fie TE, Restrepo NA, Hosking MP, Edwards RA, Battistoni A, et al. Zinc sequestration by the neutrophil protein calprotectin enhances *Salmonella* growth in the inflamed gut. *Cell Host Microbe* (2012) **11**:227–239.
- 158. Schultz M. Theobald Smith. Emerging Infectious Diseases (2008) 14:1940-1942.
- Bäumler AJ, Tsolis RM, Ficht TA, Adams LG. Evolution of host adaptation in Salmonella enterica. Infect Immun (1998) 66:4579–4587.
- Guibourdenche M, Roggentin P, Mikoleit M, Fields PI, Bockemühl J, Grimont PAD, Weill F-X. Supplement 2003-2007 (No. 47) to the White-Kauffmann-Le Minor scheme. *Res Microbiol* (2010) 161:26–29.
- Crump JA, Luby SP, Mintz ED. The global burden of typhoid fever. Bull World Health Organ (2004) 82:346–353.
- Crump JA, Mintz ED. Global trends in typhoid and paratyphoid Fever. *Clin Infect Dis* (2010) 50:241–246.
- 163. Mogasale V, Maskery B, Ochiai RL, Lee JS, Mogasale VV, Ramani E, Kim YE, Park JK, Wierzba TF. Burden of typhoid fever in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic, literature-based update with risk-factor adjustment. *Lancet*

Glob Health (2014) 2:e570-80.

- Connor BA, Schwartz E. Typhoid and paratyphoid fever in travellers. Lancet Infect Dis (2005) 5:623–628.
- Cooke FJ, Wain J, Threlfall EJ. Fluoroquinolone resistance in *Salmonella Typhi. BMJ* (2006) 333:353–354.
- 166. Chau TT, Campbell JI, Galindo CM, Van Minh Hoang N, Diep TS, Nga TTT, Van Vinh Chau N, Tuan PQ, Page AL, Ochiai RL, et al. Antimicrobial drug resistance of *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhi in asia and molecular mechanism of reduced susceptibility to the fluoroquinolones. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* (2007) 51:4315–4323.
- Santos RL, Zhang S, Tsolis RM, Kingsley RA, Adams LG, Bäumler AJ. Animal models of *Salmonella* infections: enteritis versus typhoid fever. *Microbes Infect* (2001) 3:1335–1344.
- Garcia-del Portillo F, Foster JW, Finlay BB. Role of acid tolerance response genes in *Salmonella typhimurium* virulence. *Infect Immun* (1993) 61:4489–4492.
- 169. Jones BD, Ghori N, Falkow S. Salmonella typhimurium initiates murine infection by penetrating and destroying the specialized epithelial M cells of the Peyer's patches. J Exp Med (1994) 180:15–23.
- Clark MA, Jepson MA, Simmons NL, Hirst BH. Preferential interaction of Salmonella typhimurium with mouse Peyer's patch M cells. Res Microbiol (1994) 145:543–552.
- 171. Jung C, Hugot J-P, Barreau F. Peyer's Patches: The Immune Sensors of the Intestine. *Int J Inflam* (2010) **2010**:823710.
- 172. Tahoun A, Mahajan S, Paxton E, Malterer G, Donaldson DS, Wang D, Tan A, Gillespie TL, O'Shea M, Roe AJ, et al. *Salmonella* transforms follicle-associated epithelial cells into M cells to promote intestinal invasion. *Cell Host Microbe* (2012) 12:645–656.
- 173. Bajaj V, Lucas RL, Hwang C, Lee CA. Co-ordinate regulation of *Salmonella typhimurium* invasion genes by environmental and regulatory factors is mediated by control of hilA expression. *Mol Microbiol* (1996) **22**:703–714.
- Haraga A, Ohlson MB, Miller SI. Salmonellae interplay with host cells. Nat Rev Microbiol (2008) 6:53–66.
- Ly KT, Casanova JE. Mechanisms of *Salmonella* entry into host cells. *Cell Microbiol* (2007) 9:2103–2111.
- 176. Niess JH, Brand S, Gu X, Landsman L, Jung S, McCormick BA, Vyas JM, Boes M, Ploegh HL, Fox JG, et al. CX<sub>3</sub>CR1-mediated dendritic cell access to the intestinal lumen and bacterial clearance. *Science* (2005) **307**:254–258.
- 177. Rescigno M, Urbano M, Valzasina B, Francolini M, Rotta G, Bonasio R, Granucci F, Kraehenbuhl JP, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P. Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:361–367.
- 178. Chieppa M, Rescigno M, Huang AYC, Germain RN. Dynamic imaging of dendritic cell extension into the small bowel lumen in response to epithelial cell

TLR engagement. J Exp Med (2006) 203:2841-2852.

- 179. Hapfelmeier S, Müller AJ, Stecher B, Kaiser P, Barthel M, Endt K, Eberhard M, Robbiani R, Jacobi CA, Heikenwalder M, et al. Microbe sampling by mucosal dendritic cells is a discrete, MyD88-independent step in ΔinvG S. Typhimurium colitis. J Exp Med (2008) 205:437–450.
- Tafazoli F, Magnusson K-E, Zheng L. Disruption of epithelial barrier integrity by Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium requires geranylgeranylated proteins. Infect Immun (2003) 71:872–881.
- 181. Köhler H, Sakaguchi T, Hurley BP, Kase BA, Kase BJ, Reinecker H-C, McCormick BA. Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium regulates intercellular junction proteins and facilitates transepithelial neutrophil and bacterial passage. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol (2007) 293:G178–87.
- Carter PB, Collins FM. The route of enteric infection in normal mice. J Exp Med (1974) 139:1189–1203.
- Rydström A, Wick MJ. Monocyte recruitment, activation, and function in the gutassociated lymphoid tissue during oral *Salmonella* infection. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:5789–5801.
- Tam MA, Rydström A, Sundquist M, Wick MJ. Early cellular responses to Salmonella infection: dendritic cells, monocytes, and more. Immunol Rev (2008) 225:140–162.
- 185. Voedisch S, Koenecke C, David S, Herbrand H, Förster R, Rhen M, Pabst O. Mesenteric lymph nodes confine dendritic cell-mediated dissemination of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium and limit systemic disease in mice. *Infect Immun* (2009) 77:3170–3180.
- Lim CH, Voedisch S, Wahl B, Rouf SF, Geffers R, Rhen M, Pabst O. Independent bottlenecks characterize colonization of systemic compartments and gut lymphoid tissue by *Salmonella*. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) **10**:e1004270.
- 187. Hopkins SA, Niedergang F, Corthesy-Theulaz IE, Kraehenbuhl JP. A recombinant *Salmonella typhimurium* vaccine strain is taken up and survives within murine Peyer's patch dendritic cells. *Cell Microbiol* (2000) 2:59–68.
- Salcedo SP, Noursadeghi M, Cohen J, Holden DW. Intracellular replication of Salmonella typhimurium strains in specific subsets of splenic macrophages in vivo. Cell Microbiol (2001) 3:587–597.
- Yrlid U, Wick MJ. Antigen presentation capacity and cytokine production by murine splenic dendritic cell subsets upon *Salmonella* encounter. *J Immunol* (2002) 169:108–116.
- Conlan JW. Neutrophils prevent extracellular colonization of the liver microvasculature by Salmonella typhimurium. Infect Immun (1996) 64:1043–1047.
- 191. Sheppard M, Webb C, Heath F, Mallows V, Emilianus R, Maskell D, Mastroeni P. Dynamics of bacterial growth and distribution within the liver during *Salmonella* infection. *Cell Microbiol* (2003) 5:593–600.
- Johansson C, Wick MJ. Liver dendritic cells present bacterial antigens and produce cytokines upon *Salmonella* encounter. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:2496–2503.

- 193. Mathur R, Oh H, Zhang D, Park S-G, Seo J, Koblansky A, Hayden MS, Ghosh S. A mouse model of *Salmonella Typbi* infection. *Cell* (2012) **151**:590–602.
- 194. Ross EA, Flores-Langarica A, Bobat S, Coughlan RE, Marshall JL, Hitchcock JR, Cook CN, Carvalho-Gaspar MM, Mitchell AM, Clarke M, et al. Resolving *Salmonella* infection reveals dynamic and persisting changes in murine bone marrow progenitor cell phenotype and function. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:2318– 2330.
- 195. Menendez A, Arena ET, Guttman JA, Thorson L, Vallance BA, Vogl W, Finlay BB. Salmonella infection of gallbladder epithelial cells drives local inflammation and injury in a model of acute typhoid fever. J Infect Dis (2009) 200:1703–1713.
- Watson KG, Holden DW. Dynamics of growth and dissemination of *Salmonella* in vivo. *Cell Microbiol* (2010) 12:1389–1397.
- 197. Griffin AJ, McSorley SJ. Development of protective immunity to *Salmonella*, a mucosal pathogen with a systemic agenda. *Mucosal Immunol* (2011) **4**:371–382.
- Griffin AJ, Li L-X, Voedisch S, Pabst O, McSorley SJ. Dissemination of persistent intestinal bacteria via the mesenteric lymph nodes causes typhoid relapse. *Infect Immun* (2011) 79:1479–1488.
- 199. Vazquez-Torres A, Jones-Carson J, Bäumler AJ, Falkow S, Valdivia R, Brown W, Le M, Berggren R, Parks WT, Fang FC. Extraintestinal dissemination of *Salmonella* by CD18-expressing phagocytes. *Nature* (1999) **401**:804–808.
- Barnes PD, Bergman MA, Mecsas J, Isberg RR. Yersinia pseudotuberculosis disseminates directly from a replicating bacterial pool in the intestine. J Exp Med (2006) 203:1591–1601.
- Kim JJ, Khan WI. Goblet cells and mucins: role in innate defense in enteric infections. *Pathogens* (2013) 2:55–70.
- 202. Songhet P, Barthel M, Stecher B, Müller AJ, Kremer M, Hansson GC, Hardt W-D. Stromal IFN-γR-signaling modulates goblet cell function during *Salmonella Typhimurium* infection. *PLoS ONE* (2011) **6**:e22459.
- Arnold JW, Klimpel GR, Niesel DW. Tumor necrosis factor (TNFα) regulates intestinal mucus production during salmonellosis. *Cell Immunol* (1993) 151:336–344.
- Vimal DB, Khullar M, Gupta S, Ganguly NK. Intestinal mucins: The binding sites for Salmonella typhimurium. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry (2000) 204:107–117.
- 205. Atuma C, Strugala V, Allen A, Holm L. The adherent gastrointestinal mucus gel layer: thickness and physical state in vivo. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* (2001) 280:G922–9.
- Toke O. Antimicrobial peptides: new candidates in the fight against bacterial infections. *Biopolymers* (2005) 80:717–735.
- 207. Gordon YJ, Romanowski EG, McDermott AM. A review of antimicrobial peptides and their therapeutic potential as anti-infective drugs. *Curr Eye Res* (2005) **30**:505–515.
- 208. Guilhelmelli F, Vilela N, Albuquerque P, Derengowski LDS, Silva-Pereira I, Kyaw CM. Antibiotic development challenges: the various mechanisms of action of antimicrobial peptides and of bacterial resistance. *Front Microbiol* (2013) 4:353.

- 209. Cunliffe RN, Mahida YR. Expression and regulation of antimicrobial peptides in the gastrointestinal tract. J Leukoc Biol (2004) 75:49–58.
- 210. Bevins CL, Salzman NH. Paneth cells, antimicrobial peptides and maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2011) **9**:356–368.
- 211. Su LY, Willner DL, Segall AM. An antimicrobial peptide that targets DNA repair intermediates in vitro inhibits Salmonella growth within murine macrophages. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* (2010) 54:1888–1899.
- 212. Stelter C, Käppeli R, König C, Krah A, Hardt W-D, Stecher B, Bumann D. Salmonella-induced mucosal lectin RegIIIβ kills competing gut microbiota. *PLoS* ONE (2011) 6:e20749.
- 213. Arpaia N, Godec J, Lau L, Sivick KE, McLaughlin LM, Jones MB, Dracheva T, Peterson SN, Monack DM, Barton GM. TLR signaling is required for *Salmonella typhimurium* virulence. *Cell* (2011) 144:675–688.
- 214. Fierer J. Polymorphonuclear leukocytes and innate immunity to *Salmonella* infections in mice. *Microbes Infect* (2001) **3**:1233–1237.
- 215. Cheminay C, Chakravortty D, Hensel M. Role of neutrophils in murine salmonellosis. *Infect Immun* (2004) **72**:468–477.
- Rydström A, Wick MJ. Monocyte and neutrophil recruitment during oral Salmonella infection is driven by MyD88-derived chemokines. Eur J Immunol (2009) 39:3019–3030.
- 217. Conlan JW. Critical roles of neutrophils in host defense against experimental systemic infections of mice by *Listeria monocytogenes, Salmonella typhimurium* and *Yersinia enterocolitica. Infect Immun* (1997) **65**:630–635.
- Vassiloyanakopoulos AP, Okamoto S, Fierer J. The crucial role of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in resistance to *Salmonella dublin* infections in genetically susceptible and resistant mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1998) **95**:7676– 7681.
- 219. Ehrt S, Schnappinger D, Bekiranov S, Drenkow J, Shi S, Gingeras TR, Gaasterland T, Schoolnik G, Nathan C. Reprogramming of the macrophage transcriptome in response to interferon-γ and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: signaling roles of nitric oxide synthase-2 and phagocyte oxidase. J Exp Med (2001) 194:1123–1140.
- 220. O'Brien AD, Scher I, Formal SB. Effect of silica on the innate resistance of inbred mice to *Salmonella typhimurium* infection. *Infect Immun* (1979) **25**:513–520.
- 221. Wijburg OL, Simmons CP, van Rooijen N, Strugnell RA. Dual role for macrophages in vivo in pathogenesis and control of murine *Salmonella enterica* var. Typhimurium infections. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) **30**:944–953.
- 222. Kirby AC, Yrlid U, Wick MJ. The innate immune response differs in primary and secondary *Salmonella* infection. *J Immunol* (2002) **169**:4450–4459.
- 223. Kupz A, Scott TA, Belz GT, Andrews DM, Greyer M, Lew AM, Brooks AG, Smyth MJ, Curtiss R, Bedoui S, et al. Contribution of Thy1<sup>+</sup> NK cells to protective IFN-γ production during *Salmonella typhimurium* infections. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2013) **110**:2252–2257.

- 224. Kupz A, Curtiss R, Bedoui S, Strugnell RA. In vivo IFN-γ secretion by NK cells in response to *Salmonella typhimurium* requires NLRC4 inflammasomes. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e97418.
- 225. Lapaque N, Walzer T, Méresse S, Vivier E, Trowsdale J. Interactions between human NK cells and macrophages in response to *Salmonella* infection. *J Immunol* (2009) **182**:4339–4348.
- 226. Kupz A, Bedoui S, Strugnell RA. Cellular requirements for systemic control of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium infections in mice. *Infect Immun* (2014) 82:4997–5004.
- 227. Salazar-Gonzalez RM, Niess JH, Zammit DJ, Ravindran R, Srinivasan A, Maxwell JR, Stoklasek T, Yadav R, Williams IR, Gu X, et al. CCR6-mediated dendritic cell activation of pathogen-specific T cells in Peyer's patches. *Immunity* (2006) 24:623–632.
- 228. Yrlid U, Svensson M, Håkansson A, Chambers BJ, Ljunggren HG, Wick MJ. In vivo activation of dendritic cells and T cells during *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium infection. *Infect Immun* (2001) **69**:5726–5735.
- 229. Vazquez-Torres A, Jones-Carson J, Mastroeni P, Ischiropoulos H, Fang FC. Antimicrobial actions of the NADPH phagocyte oxidase and inducible nitric oxide synthase in experimental salmonellosis. I. Effects on microbial killing by activated peritoneal macrophages in vitro. J Exp Med (2000) 192:227–236.
- 230. Mastroeni P, Vazquez-Torres A, Fang FC, Xu Y, Khan S, Hormaeche CE, Dougan G. Antimicrobial actions of the NADPH phagocyte oxidase and inducible nitric oxide synthase in experimental salmonellosis. II. Effects on microbial proliferation and host survival in vivo. *J Exp Med* (2000) **192**:237–248.
- 231. Burton NA, Schürmann N, Casse O, Steeb AK, Claudi B, Zankl J, Schmidt A, Bumann D. Disparate impact of oxidative host defenses determines the fate of *Salmonella* during systemic infection in mice. *Cell Host Microbe* (2014) 15:72–83.
- 232. Cirillo DM, Valdivia RH, Monack DM, Falkow S. Macrophage-dependent induction of the *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 2 type III secretion system and its role in intracellular survival. *Mol Microbiol* (1998) **30**:175–188.
- 233. Ochman H, Soncini FC, Solomon F, Groisman EA. Identification of a pathogenicity island required for *Salmonella* survival in host cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (1996) 93:7800–7804.
- Abrahams GL, Hensel M. Manipulating cellular transport and immune responses: dynamic interactions between intracellular *Salmonella enterica* and its host cells. *Cell Microbiol* (2006) 8:728–737.
- Chakraborty S, Mizusaki H, Kenney LJ. A FRET-based DNA biosensor tracks OmpR-dependent acidification of *Salmonella* during macrophage infection. *PLoS Biol* (2015) 13:e1002116.
- Mastroeni P, Grant A. Dynamics of spread of Salmonella enterica in the systemic compartment. Microbes Infect (2013) 15:849–857.
- 237. Jankowski A, Scott CC, Grinstein S. Determinants of the phagosomal pH in neutrophils. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:6059–6066.

- 238. Schroder K, Hertzog PJ, Ravasi T, Hume DA. Interferon-γ: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. *J Leukoc Biol* (2004) **75**:163–189.
- 239. Muotiala A, Mäkelä PH. The role of IFN-γ in murine Salmonella typhimurium infection. Microbial Pathogenesis (1990) 8:135–141.
- Bao S, Beagley KW, France MP, Shen J, Husband AJ. Interferon-γ plays a critical role in intestinal immunity against *Salmonella typhimurium* infection. *Immunology* (2000) 99:464–472.
- Srinivasan A, Salazar-Gonzalez RM, Jarcho M, Sandau MM, Lefrancois L, McSorley SJ. Innate immune activation of CD4 T cells in *Salmonella*-infected mice is dependent on IL-18. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:6342–6349.
- Eckmann L, Kagnoff MF. Cytokines in host defense against Salmonella. Microbes Infect (2001) 3:1191–1200.
- 243. Hirose K, Nishimura H, Matsuguchi T, Yoshikai Y. Endogenous IL-15 might be responsible for early protection by natural killer cells against infection with an avirulent strain of *Salmonella choleraesuis* in mice. *J Leukoc Biol* (1999) 66:382–390.
- 244. Ma Y, Chen H, Wang Q, Luo F, Yan J, Zhang X-L. IL-24 protects against Salmonella typhimurium infection by stimulating early neutrophil Th1 cytokine production, which in turn activates CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Eur J Immunol (2009) 39:3357– 3368.
- 245. Everest P, Roberts M, Dougan G. Susceptibility to Salmonella typhimurium infection and effectiveness of vaccination in mice deficient in the tumor necrosis factor α p55 receptor. Infect Immun (1998) 66:3355–3364.
- Klimpel GR, Asuncion M, Haithcoat J, Niesel DW. Cholera toxin and Salmonella typhimurium induce different cytokine profiles in the gastrointestinal tract. Infect Immun (1995) 63:1134–1137.
- 247. Eckmann L, Fierer J, Kagnoff MF. Genetically resistant (Ityr) and susceptible (Itys) congenic mouse strains show similar cytokine responses following infection with *Salmonella dublin. J Immunol* (1996) **156**:2894–2900.
- Xing Z, Gauldie J, Cox G, Baumann H, Jordana M, Lei XF, Achong MK. IL-6 is an antiinflammatory cytokine required for controlling local or systemic acute inflammatory responses. *J Clin Invest* (1998) 101:311–320.
- 249. van de Veerdonk FL, Gresnigt MS, Kullberg B-J, van der Meer JWM, Joosten LAB, Netea MG. Th17 responses and host defense against microorganisms: an overview. BMB Rep (2009) 42:776–787.
- Lee S-J, McLachlan JB, Kurtz JR, Fan D, Winter SE, Baumler AJ, Jenkins MK, McSorley SJ. Temporal expression of bacterial proteins instructs host CD4 T cell expansion and Th17 development. *PLoS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1002499.
- 251. Schulz SM, Köhler G, Holscher C, Iwakura Y, Alber G. IL-17A is produced by Th17,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and other CD4<sup>-</sup> lymphocytes during infection with *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis and has a mild effect in bacterial clearance. *Int Immunol* (2008) **20**:1129–1138.
- 252. Schulz SM, Köhler G, Schütze N, Knauer J, Straubinger RK, Chackerian AA, Witte E, Wolk K, Sabat R, Iwakura Y, et al. Protective immunity to systemic

infection with attenuated *Salmonella enterica* serovar enteritidis in the absence of IL-12 is associated with IL-23-dependent IL-22, but not IL-17. *J Immunol* (2008) **181**:7891–7901.

- 253. Raffatellu M, George MD, Akiyama Y, Hornsby MJ, Nuccio S-P, Paixao TA, Butler BP, Chu H, Santos RL, Berger T, et al. Lipocalin-2 resistance confers an advantage to *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium for growth and survival in the inflamed intestine. *Cell Host Microbe* (2009) 5:476–486.
- Cheminay C, Möhlenbrink A, Hensel M. Intracellular Salmonella inhibit antigen presentation by dendritic cells. J Immunol (2005) 174:2892–2899.
- 255. Tobar JA, Carreño LJ, Bueno SM, González PA, Mora JE, Quezada SA, Kalergis AM. Virulent *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhimurium evades adaptive immunity by preventing dendritic cells from activating T cells. *Infect Immun* (2006) 74:6438–6448.
- Halici S, Zenk SF, Jantsch J, Hensel M. Functional analysis of the *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 2-mediated inhibition of antigen presentation in dendritic cells. *Infect Immun* (2008) **76**:4924–4933.
- 257. Nauciel C. Role of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and T-independent mechanisms in acquired resistance to *Salmonella typhimurium* infection. *J Immunol* (1990) **145**:1265–1269.
- 258. Guilloteau L, Buzoni-Gatel D, Bernard F, Lantier I, Lantier F. Salmonella abortusovis infection in susceptible BALB/cby mice: importance of Lyt-2<sup>+</sup> and L3T4<sup>+</sup> T cells in acquired immunity and granuloma formation. *Microbial Pathogenesis* (1993) 14:45–55.
- 259. Hess J, Ladel C, Miko D, Kaufmann SH. Salmonella typhimurium aroA<sup>-</sup> infection in gene-targeted immunodeficient mice: major role of CD4<sup>+</sup> TCR-αβ cells and IFN-γ in bacterial clearance independent of intracellular location. J Immunol (1996) 156:3321–3326.
- Weintraub BC, Eckmann L, Okamoto S, Hense M, Hedrick SM, Fierer J. Role of alphabeta and gammadelta T cells in the host response to *Salmonella* infection as demonstrated in T-cell-receptor-deficient mice of defined Ity genotypes. *Infect Immun* (1997) 65:2306–2312.
- Galdiero M, De Martino L, Marcatili A, Nuzzo I, Vitiello M, Cipollaro de l'Ero G. Th1 and Th2 cell involvement in immune response to *Salmonella typhimurium* porins. *Immunology* (1998) 94:5–13.
- Pie S, Truffa-Bachi P, Pla M, Nauciel C. Th1 response in *Salmonella typhimurium*infected mice with a high or low rate of bacterial clearance. *Infect Immun* (1997) 65:4509–4514.
- McSorley SJ, Cookson BT, Jenkins MK. Characterization of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses during natural infection with *Salmonella typhimurium*. J Immunol (2000) 164:986–993.
- Srinivasan A, Foley J, McSorley SJ. Massive number of antigen-specific CD4 T cells during vaccination with live attenuated *Salmonella* causes interclonal competition. *J Immunol* (2004) **172**:6884–6893.
- 265. Mittrücker HW, Kaufmann SH. Immune response to infection with Salmonella

typhimurium in mice. J Leukoc Biol (2000) 67:457-463.

- 266. Kirby AC, Sundquist M, Wick MJ. In vivo compartmentalization of functionally distinct, rapidly responsive antigen-specific T-cell populations in DNA-immunized or *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium-infected mice. *Infect Immun* (2004) 72:6390–6400.
- Ravindran R, McSorley SJ. Tracking the dynamics of T-cell activation in response to *Salmonella* infection. *Immunology* (2005) 114:450–458.
- Godinez I, Raffatellu M, Chu H, Paixao TA, Haneda T, Santos RL, Bevins CL, Tsolis RM, Baumler AJ. Interleukin-23 orchestrates mucosal responses to *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium in the intestine. *Infect Immun* (2009) 77:387–398.
- Raffatellu M, Santos RL, Verhoeven DE, George MD, Wilson RP, Winter SE, Godinez I, Sankaran S, Paixao TA, Gordon MA, et al. Simian immunodeficiency virus-induced mucosal interleukin-17 deficiency promotes *Salmonella* dissemination from the gut. *Nat Med* (2008) 14:421–428.
- Vidric M, Bladt AT, Dianzani U, Watts TH. Role for inducible costimulator in control of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium infection in mice. *Infect Immun* (2006) 74:1050–1061.
- 271. Luu RA, Gurnani K, Dudani R, Kammara R, van Faassen H, Sirard J-C, Krishnan L, Sad S. Delayed expansion and contraction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response during infection with virulent *Salmonella typhimurium*. J Immunol (2006) **177**:1516–1525.
- 272. Mastroeni P, Villarreal-Ramos B, Hormaeche CE. Role of T cells, TNFα and IFNγ in recall of immunity to oral challenge with virulent salmonellae in mice vaccinated with live attenuated aro<sup>-</sup> Salmonella vaccines. Microbial Pathogenesis (1992) 13:477–491.
- 273. Lee S-J, Dunmire S, McSorley SJ. MHC class-I-restricted CD8 T cells play a protective role during primary *Salmonella* infection. *Immunol Lett* (2012) **148**:138–143.
- 274. Jones-Carson J, McCollister BD, Clambey ET, Vázquez-Torres A. Systemic CD8 T-cell memory response to a *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 2 effector is restricted to *Salmonella enterica* encountered in the gastrointestinal mucosa. *Infect Immun* (2007) 75:2708–2716.
- Casadevall A. Antibody-mediated immunity against intracellular pathogens: twodimensional thinking comes full circle. *Infect Immun* (2003) 71:4225–4228.
- Mastroeni P, Grant A, Restif O, Maskell D. A dynamic view of the spread and intracellular distribution of *Salmonella enterica*. Nat Rev Microbiol (2009) 7:73–80.
- 277. Siggins MK, O'Shaughnessy CM, Pravin J, Cunningham AF, Henderson IR, Drayson MT, MacLennan CA. Differential timing of antibody-mediated phagocytosis and cell-free killing of invasive African Salmonella allows immune evasion. Eur J Immunol (2014) 44:1093–1098.
- Bueno SM, Riquelme S, Riedel CA, Kalergis AM. Mechanisms used by virulent Salmonella to impair dendritic cell function and evade adaptive immunity. Immunology (2012) 137:28–36.

- Mittrücker HW, Raupach B, Köhler A, Kaufmann SH. Cutting edge: role of B lymphocytes in protective immunity against *Salmonella typhimurium* infection. J Immunol (2000) 164:1648–1652.
- McSorley SJ, Jenkins MK. Antibody is required for protection against virulent but not attenuated *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Infect Immun* (2000) 68:3344–3348.
- Sztein M, Wasserman S, Tacket C, Edelman R, Hone D, Lindberg A, Levine M. Cytokine production patterns and lymphoproliferative responses in volunteers orally immunized with attenuated vaccine strains of *Salmonella typhi*. J Infect Dis (1994) **170**:1508–1517.
- 282. Mastroeni P, Simmons C, Fowler R, Hormaeche CE, Dougan G. Igh-6-/- (B-cell-deficient) mice fail to mount solid acquired resistance to oral challenge with virulent *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhimurium and show impaired Th1 T-cell responses to *Salmonella* antigens. *Infect Immun* (2000) 68:46–53.
- Santos RL. Pathobiology of *Salmonella*, intestinal microbiota, and the host innate immune response. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:252.
- 284. Cho SH, Godin JM, Chen C-H, Qiao W, Lee H, Lo Y-H. Review Article: Recent advancements in optofluidic flow cytometer. *Biomicrofluidics* (2010) **4**:43001.
- Voller A, Bartlett A, Bidwell DE. Enzyme immunoassays with special reference to ELISA techniques. J Clin Pathol (1978) 31:507–520.
- Lequin RM. Enzyme immunoassay (EIA)/enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Clin Chem (2005) 51:2415–2418.
- Fu Q, Zhu J, Van Eyk JE. Comparison of multiplex immunoassay platforms. *Clin Chem* (2010) 56:314–318.
- Kubista M, Andrade JM, Bengtsson M, Forootan A, Jonák J, Lind K, Sindelka R, Sjöback R, Sjögreen B, Strömbom L, et al. The real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Mol Aspects Med* (2006) 27:95–125.
- Gilchrist JJ, MacLennan CA, Hill AVS. Genetic susceptibility to invasive Salmonella disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15:452–463.
- 290. Fujii S-I, Shimizu K, Smith C, Bonifaz L, Steinman RM. Activation of natural killer T cells by α-galactosylceramide rapidly induces the full maturation of dendritic cells in vivo and thereby acts as an adjuvant for combined CD4 and CD8 T cell immunity to a coadministered protein. J Exp Med (2003) 198:267–279.
- 291. Issac JM, Sarawathiamma D, Al-Ketbi MI, Azimullah S, Al-Ojali SM, Mohamed YA, Flavell RA, Fernandez-Cabezudo MJ, al-Ramadi BK. Differential outcome of infection with attenuated *Salmonella* in MyD88-deficient mice is dependent on the route of administration. *Immunobiology* (2013) 218:52–63.
- 292. Bhinder G, Stahl M, Sham HP, Crowley SM, Morampudi V, Dalwadi U, Ma C, Jacobson K, Vallance BA. Intestinal epithelium-specific MyD88 signaling impacts host susceptibility to infectious colitis by promoting protective goblet cell and antimicrobial responses. *Infect Immun* (2014) 82:3753–3763.
- 293. Talbot S, Tötemeyer S, Yamamoto M, Akira S, Hughes K, Gray D, Barr T, Mastroeni P, Maskell DJ, Bryant CE. Toll-like receptor 4 signalling through

MyD88 is essential to control *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhimurium infection, but not for the initiation of bacterial clearance. *Immunology* (2009) **128**:472–483.

- Weiss DS, Raupach B, Takeda K, Akira S, Zychlinsky A. Toll-like receptors are temporally involved in host defense. *J Immunol* (2004) **172**:4463–4469.
- 295. Pashine A, John B, Rath S, George A, Bal V. Th1 dominance in the immune response to live *Salmonella typhimurium* requires bacterial invasiveness but not persistence. *Int Immunol* (1999) **11**:481–489.
- 296. Fujio K, Okamura T, Yamamoto K. The family of IL-10-secreting CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. *Adv Immunol* (2010) 105:99–130.
- 297. Ferrer IR, Wagener ME, Song M, Kirk AD, Larsen CP, Ford ML. Antigen-specific induced Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells are generated following CD40/CD154 blockade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2011) 108:20701–20706.
- Ravindran R, Foley J, Stoklasek T, Glimcher LH, McSorley SJ. Expression of Tbet by CD4 T cells is essential for resistance to *Salmonella* infection. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:4603–4610.
- 299. Schenten D, Nish SA, Yu S, Yan X, Lee HK, Brodsky I, Pasman L, Yordy B, Wunderlich FT, Brüning JC, et al. Signaling through the adaptor molecule MyD88 in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is required to overcome suppression by regulatory T cells. *Immunity* (2014) 40:78–90.
- 300. Asadullah K, Sterry W, Volk HD. Interleukin-10 therapy -review of a new approach. *Pharmacol Rev* (2003) **55**:241–269.
- Sellers RS, Clifford CB, Treuting PM, Brayton C. Immunological variation between inbred laboratory mouse strains: points to consider in phenotyping genetically immunomodified mice. *Vet Pathol* (2012) 49:32–43.
- 302. Welty NE, Staley C, Ghilardi N, Sadowsky MJ, Igyártó BZ, Kaplan DH. Intestinal lamina propria dendritic cells maintain T cell homeostasis but do not affect commensalism. J Exp Med (2013) 210:2011-2024.
- 303. Kirby AC, Yrlid U, Svensson M, Wick MJ. Differential involvement of dendritic cell subsets during acute *Salmonella* infection. *J Immunol* (2001) **166**:6802-6811.
- 304. Mora JR, Iwata M, Eksteen B, Song S-Y, Junt T, Senman B, Otipoby KL, Yokota A, Takeuchi H, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, et al. Generation of gut-homing IgA-secreting B cells by intestinal dendritic cells. *Science* (2006) **314**:1157–1160.
- 305. Litinskiy MB, Nardelli B, Hilbert DM, He B, Schaffer A, Casali P, Cerutti A. DCs induce CD40-independent immunoglobulin class switching through BLyS and APRIL. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:822–829.
- 306. Johansson C, Ingman M, Jo Wick M. Elevated neutrophil, macrophage and dendritic cell numbers characterize immune cell populations in mice chronically infected with *Salmonella*. *Microbial Pathogenesis* (2006) **41**:49–58.
- 307. Sundquist M, Wick MJ. Salmonella induces death of CD8α<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells but not CD11c<sup>int</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> inflammatory cells in vivo via MyD88 and TNFR1. J Leukoc Biol (2009) 85:225–234.
- 308. Wick MJ. Innate immune control of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium: mechanisms contributing to combating systemic *Salmonella* infection. J Innate

Immun (2011) 3:543-549.

- Clarke TB, Davis KM, Lysenko ES, Zhou AY, Yu Y, Weiser JN. Recognition of peptidoglycan from the microbiota by Nod1 enhances systemic innate immunity. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:228–231.
- Mørland B, Smievoll AI, Midtvedt T. Comparison of peritoneal macrophages from germfree and conventional mice. *Infect Immun* (1979) 26:1129–1136.
- 311. Ueda Y, Kayama H, Jeon SG, Kusu T, Isaka Y, Rakugi H, Yamamoto M, Takeda K. Commensal microbiota induce LPS hyporesponsiveness in colonic macrophages via the production of IL-10. *Int Immunol* (2010) 22:953–962.
- 312. Wichmann A, Allahyar A, Greiner TU, Plovier H, Lundén GÖ, Larsson T, Drucker DJ, Delzenne NM, Cani PD, Bäckhed F. Microbial modulation of energy availability in the colon regulates intestinal transit. *Cell Host Microbe* (2013) 14:582– 590.
- 313. Que JU, Hentges DJ. Effect of streptomycin administration on colonization resistance to *Salmonella typhimurium* in mice. *Infect Immun* (1985) **48**:169–174.
- 314. Meynell GG, Subbaiah TV. Antibacterial mechanisms of the mouse gut. I. Kinetics of infection by *Salmonella typhimurium* in normal and streptomycin-treated mice studied with abortive transductants. *Br J Exp Pathol* (1963) 44:197–208.
- Spees AM, Lopez CA, Kingsbury DD, Winter SE, Baumler AJ. Colonization resistance: battle of the bugs or Ménage à Trois with the host? *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003730.
- Okamura H, Kashiwamura S, Tsutsui H, Yoshimoto T, Nakanishi K. Regulation of interferon-γ production by IL-12 and IL-18. *Curr Opin Immunol* (1998) 10:259– 264.